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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  Let’s go ahead and begin the Senate Committee on Governmental Organization.  My name is Dean Florez.  And I do want to thank the members for being here.  Obviously, those attending this hearing should know that we’ve called this hearing to look at two of the more contentious issues facing the horse racing industry; the mandatory installation of synthetic racing surfaces at selected race tracks, and, the allocation of racing dates.  Intertwined within these two topics is a host of other issues that have significant ramifications to the long term viability of horse racing in California as we know it.  I hope to untangle some of these issues so that the committee can better understand what’s at stake; what’s the reasonable course of action; and how best policymakers can constructively participate with the industry.


I will say also, we’ve called this hearing because the California horse racing industry is at a critical point; some would call it a tipping point.  Now, I would say, that at least in terms of my chairmanship, folks in the industry have spent too much time and effort talking past each other and not enough time talking with each other.  In fact, this has occurred with a certain level of gamesmanship that rivals anything close to whatever happens here at the State Capitol on a bad political day.  Make no mistake, the turmoil in the industry has now reached our doorstep in Sacramento.  
· One only has to look to the fact that the CHRB budget now is being held up.  The question is; why?  
· We have an official Senate Resolution that was introduced asking for the resignation of a chairman.  The question is; why?

· We hear accusations and counter accusations on a regular basis, and the question is; why?

· We have threats of closing down or leaving the State unless we get our way and the question is; why?

· We have an unhealthy level and uncertainty within the industry and an inability to make long term plans as a result, and the question, again, is; why?

· And there are letters and pressure campaigns too numerous to count and hopefully today we can delve into the issue of why.

I can tell you, I’m very interested in asking the questions; how did we ever get to this point; what are the dynamics that have led us here; and will the industry ever get healthy again?
Mr. Vincent, who is sitting with me and is the past chairman of the G.O. Committee and my good friend, has said in the past, and let me paraphrase you, Senator Vincent, if I could, “If we don’t do something constructive now we might well just wake up dead.”  

And the reason we called the hearing is so we can stop talking past each other; it’s time to face and address each other.  And I believe if you’ve got something to say then you should be ready to say it today, quite frankly, and be ready to defend it, as well.
I can tell you, for those of you, particularly sitting here in the audience, who so quickly run to Sacramento when you don’t get your way, well, you’ve got our attention and, quite frankly, be careful what you ask for because today we are going to be listening intently to what you have to say.

Let me also say for the record, it’s not simply enough to complain; you better have a solution or an action plan ready; you better be ready to speak clearly.  And while synthetic surfaces and race dates may be the focus of today’s hearing, I am certainly ready to entertain a more robust discussion on the issues of reform—board reform particularly.  As Senator Yee has mentioned many times, this is an issue that will come before this committee in the next year or so, if not this year.  
I can tell you, that I’m very happy to have very, very engaged members of my committee who very much care about this issue.  And I think everybody who is sitting here at the dais, as I look around, cares about horse racing.  The simple question is; can we make it a constructive dialog?  

And with that, I want to go ahead and begin the hearing.  I do want to allow for comments and statements by committee members.  And Senator Denham, the vice-chair of the G.O. Committee, I’d like to turn it over to you.

SENATOR JEFF DENHAM:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I, as well, am disappointed.  I carried a bill last session, SB 1464, which would have required the use of synthetic track surfaces.  It got through the Senate, then I was told the Board was going to administratively require the use of synthetic surfaces so I dropped my bill.  The Board voted to require the use of synthetic surfaces but now it’s under pressure to rescind that vote.  Had I known this, I would not have dropped the bill last year.  

If all of us agree that synthetic surfaces are the safest for horses and the jockeys, why in the world would we not go ahead and require it?  What will we say to those families that have a jockey that gets hurt in a two-year exemption?  It’s not a conversation that I’m willing to have.  And I think if we all determine that it is the safest, then that’s something that we should move ahead with.

I’m a supporter of those who work directly and indirectly in the horse racing industry, but I’m also worried about the idea of the Legislature usurping decisions best left to the CHRB.  The whole reason we have the Horse Racing Board is to take decisions about horse racing out of the hands of legislators.

The cutting the budget of the CHRB is wrong and, quite frankly, a bad bluff that I hope the Administration and the Board don’t knuckle under to.  

Finally, I hope that after all of the bloodletting today, that we can move forward and help the industry help itself.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Senator Denham.  Senator Yee.

SENATOR LELAND YEE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  And let me first thank you for the generosity you’ve given me on this particular issue.  I know that I have taken certain actions relative to the horse racing industry, but be very, very clear that it is really because I care about this industry very, very much.  As someone who cares about children and the history of our culture of this state, it’s extremely important that we do everything that we can to preserve the horse racing industry.
I took some political hits within my own district when we offered an opportunity to somehow help horse racing when we looked at instant horse racing machines, although individuals within my district felt that that was a turnabout relative to my representation of my district, but nevertheless, I felt I needed to do that.  

I do appreciate your asking a lot of questions about why, and I would concur with you.  And, hopefully, we will be able to get some answer as to why are individuals on the CHRB filled with conflicts; why are there personal vendettas?  
I’m glad that you included in the packet of material an article by Mr. Edward Halpern who talks about my, sort of, connection, or financial connection with Stockbridge Capital.  So I think it’s extremely important that we are given an opportunity on this _______ occasion to ferret out what is the truth?  It’s very, very easy to just put something in print, but it’s another to explain and defend that, and I’m looking forward to that particular opportunity.  

So I thank you for this hearing.  And hopefully, we will be able to come to some conclusions on these matters.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Senator Yee.  Senator Vincent, do you have any opening comments?

SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  Well, I didn’t have any, but I’ll just say a few things.  And I’m kind of frustrated with the fact that we had to have a meeting like this.  But I just want to say this; we’ve got to get together.  You know, we’ve got problems now.  And what I said was, in the horse racing industry, or just in the industry, period, and with us too, we were sleeping and we’re going to wake up dead because horses are leaving here every day.  
And as you look at it, you know, we’ve got the best tracks here, we’ve got the best trainers here, we’ve got the best horses here, we’ve got the best weather here, we’ve got Hollywood here, but we don’t have no damn sense here.  We need to get together.

Now, another situation where I was involved in was football.  Do you know why?  If you watch a football game, the one’s who’s got the ball, they go into a huddle?  Well, the quarterback calls “128.”  Well, you can’t say, “No, let’s do 127, let’s do 32 trap”—you can’t do that.  You call the play and everybody works together if you’re going to score a touchdown.  That’s what it’s all about. 

I hope everybody loves the horses.  So, let’s get together and make it work, because we’re losing.  You can’t go to the race track—it’s a five-horse field—and you can’t bet an exotic bet—you can’t do it.  You’ve got small crowds, you’ve got small fields, and you’ve got small purses.  Let’s get them all big again.  Let’s get them all big by working together.

Thanks.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Wiggins.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  He’s right about small purses.  Other states have bigger purses and we need to do something about that.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  With that, let’s go ahead and begin with the first panel.  We have Richard Shapiro, Chairman of the California Horse Racing Board; John Harris, Vice-Chair, California Horse Racing Board; Ingrid Fermin, Executive Director, California Horse Racing Board; and Dr. Rick Arthur, Equine Medical Director, California Horse Racing Board.  Thank you for joining us.
I do have questions, and I’d like to see if I could get through some of those.  I don’t know if you have opening statements, but those are reserved for members only today and we’re going to get right to questions.  I know I have questions; Senator Yee has questions; Senator Denham has questions, so let’s go ahead and jump into it, if I could.

The first thing that we’re going to talk about today is synthetic racing surfaces.  And I guess the first question I have is; in 2006, and this is for the panel and anyone jump in, but in 2006 the CHRB mandated that five of California’s major thoroughbred race tracks install synthetic surfaces; is that correct?

RICHARD SHAPIRO:  That’s correct.  In May of 2006.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can you identify yourself for the record?

MR. SHAPIRO:  I’m Richard Shapiro.  I’m chairman of the California Horse Racing Board.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And was that a unanimous decision?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, it was a completely unanimous decision.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what was the purpose of that decision?  Would you agree it was a major shift in racing?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, it was a momentous shift in racing to do that.  And the reason, which I think Dr. Arthur could probably articulate better than I can, is that unfortunately, we have a near crisis in horse racing today.  And for whatever reason, we are seeing too many horses that are lost to either fatalities from racing injuries, or just injuries that are career ending and it’s reaching epidemic proportions.  And so, we felt that it was a step that we could take to address exactly what Senator Vincent just said, which is to create bigger fields, better wagering interests, and so forth.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask on the parameters of this surface requirement:  Now, they had to be in place by when, and if not, what were the consequences?

MR. SHAPIRO:  The rule that was passed was that they had to be in place by January 1, 2008.  I don’t believe the Board ever established any consequence…

JOHN HARRIS:  To get more than four weeks of racing.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, I guess that would be…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What was the consequence?

MR. HARRIS:  I think that we made exemptions if a track, such as a fair, raced less than four weeks a year they weren’t covered by the rule, now, anyway, but any track that was a normal racing association was to be covered in 2008.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  So the consequence was race dates?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, theoretically it was race dates.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why is that a fair consequence?  Why race dates?  Why not something else?  Why not some other mechanism?  Why were the race dates to be looked at?  Is that a driver in the industry?  For those of us who…
MR. SHAPIRO:  No, it is a driver—it is a driver.  Every race track covets race dates.  Every race date, as you know, the industry fights over every single day.  And so, the theory was that those that didn’t put it in could either lose race dates; could be fined.  But I don’t think that the Board ever went to the exhaustive analysis of what the consequence would be, we hoped and expected, given all the input from the industry, that everybody would comply with the mandate.

MR. HARRIS:  I’m John Harris, the vice-chairman of the CHRB.  I think the main consequences we’re worried about were the impacts on horse soundness and jockeys and the safety aspects, and it just seemed like we had a responsibility to look at those for racing.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But in every sense of the word, was the consequence in this case the stick?  In other words, this was the bad consequence.  What was the carrot in this?  What made people want to go to synthetic turf?  Or did everybody just simply say horse safety?

MR. SHAPIRO:  It was equine safety, it was for human safety and there was no opposition from any of the thoroughbred race tracks when we adopted the….we had plenty of discussion.  It’s important to know that prior to our passing this regulation, we had at least six study sessions that were held (four in the south and two in the north) where different vendors were invited to come and show their surface; to allow everybody to understand it; to do a study of it.  There were lots of different medical studies that were done as part of that process.  And when the Board adopted I don’t believe there was any opposition to it.

MR. HARRIS:  I think part of the issue too, there is a payback.  Because as field sizes increased, wagering will increase and that’s really the fuel for racing revenues, which is evidenced, that Hollywood Park is up about ten percent this year, which is our first full season of racing on the synthetic track.  So, there’s definitely a payback there for all parties.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What other facilities in the U.S. are using them or are planning to use synthetic surfaces?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Currently in the U.S. there’s Turfway Park in Kentucky, which was the first; Keeneland has it now, which is also in Kentucky; Arlington Park has it, in Chicago, Illinois; Woodbine up in Canada has it; Hollywood Park, thankfully, put it in; Del Mar has installed it; Golden Gate is moving forward to put theirs in; Santa Anita has announced that they’re putting theirs in, and I don’t know which other tracks around the country.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so let’s go to the tracks….this is an investment of about $8- to $10 million, roughly?

MR. SHAPIRO:  That’s what we’re told.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And Hollywood Park was the first to put one in?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, they were.

MR. HARRIS:  In California.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Were they mandated to put it in or they just did it?

MR. HARRIS:  No, they had until ’08 to put it in; they put it in back in ’06.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any other track in California, at this point in time, other than Hollywood Park?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Del Mar.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Del Mar.  And so, why the mandate?  I mean, in essence, Hollywood Park has moved in that direction, Del Mar, why mandate?  What was the Board’s rationale of saying across the board, “We’re going to require these on the major tracks?”
MR. SHAPIRO:  I believe, as Dr. Arthur can tell you, what our problem is, and, perhaps he can address that best.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  And let me state as you begin this part of it, that the benefit to racing is what we’re interested in, in terms of synthetic track—particularly Hollywood Park and Del Mar, and then, why the rest of the tracks should be mandated to do this, because we really want to hear about the benefit more than anything?
DR. RICK ARTHUR:  Certainly.  I’m Dr. Rick Arthur, Equine Medical Director.  I’m with the School of Veterinary Medicine at the University of California, Davis, and I am assigned to the Horse Racing Board under interagency contract.  

The problem….I think, I’ve given you information, you know that.  What is the benefit to synthetic tracks?  And that is, particularly the very early data from Turfway Park, was very dramatic.  They showed an 
85 percent decrease in the racing fatality rate at their first meet that was raced in entirety on the poly-track.  

We have seen at Hollywood Park, for the first time in the history of that meet, there was an entire meet and not one racing fatality on the cushioned track.  

We’ve also seen at Arlington Park in a comparative amount of days, that up to the first twenty-two days of their meet last year, there were eight racing fatalities—there’s been one this year.  

Hollywood Park is looking right now to their….last year they had one racing fatality in their spring meet.  For every 389 starts, right now they’re looking at one fatality for each 883 starts.  That’s a 50 percent decrease in the fatality rate.
And we know from other studies, that there is a relationship between fatalities and injuries.  California has always been in the forefront, for the last fifteen years, where all of our horses are necropsied through the veterinary school that die within the enclosure, so we have a very good handle on our numbers.  So, it’s very positive and the information certainly was out there that synthetic surfaces are safer for race horses.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  So what are the negative results?  Everything you’ve said is positive, and I asked you to focus on that, but I mean, in the studies that you looked at, what were the negative aspects of these particular tracks?

DR. ARTHUR:  There are really no negative aspects for horse health.  The only negative aspect is the capital investment.  And the real issue is, and this is….if you sit down and analyze it, it’s the capital investment for the race track as compared to the capital investment for the horse owner.  And I think I have some other data that I presented in your packets that kind of go through that.  

Our attrition rate of horses in California is roughly three to four percent, and that what it is nationally.  And if you look at the average inventory we have, the average price of a horse, we’re talking about spending $4- to $8 million a month on Southern California race tracks, alone, to replace the inventory.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about defects?

DR. ARTHUR:  There have been no real defects with this product.  I’m unaware of any.  There was some concern about the inhalation of this product in talking to veterinarians that have examined horses afterwards.  There has been no health problems associated with aspiration of the track.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about jockeys—inhalation and plastics?

DR. ARTHUR:  Well, I don’t deal with jockeys so I can’t really comment on that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Has anybody looked at that from the Board’s perspective of the long-term consequences?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, there were studies that were done and those studies were looking to see if there was some higher incidence of inhalation as a result of it.  And prior to our adopting the rule, we saw those studies and there was no apparent problems whatsoever for humans that were found, and that information was shared with the Jockeys Guild.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So no concern about kickbacks particularly being inhaled by horses or jockeys—were looked at or were not?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, it was looked at.

DR. ARTHUR:  There was a concern about the kickback.  And I personally discussed the situation with veterinarians looking after horses at Turfway and they considered it a non issue.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And on the defect side, what kind of monitoring system has been set up by the Board to judge the safety of the track over the long-term?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, prior to every race meeting the track is inspected.  We do an inspection, which perhaps Ms. Fermin can deal with, because the Board inspects every race track before a meet starts.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, Ms. Fermin.

INGRID FERMIN:  Ingrid Fermin from the California Horse Racing Board.  Yes, we do have someone inspect the track for safety prior to.  The person who has generally been doing it for us recently has been Marty Hamilton, who is an ex-jockey and a steward and has been with the Board for a number of years.  And he was down at Del Mar, for instance, looking at the poly-track just recently and was very satisfied with what he saw.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And any public health protocols looked at, as well, beyond jockeys, horses?  I mean, this…

MS. FERMIN:  No.  As you know, we have studies going on for jockeys that are all encompassing.  But as far as we know now, there have not been any complaints or problems.  And I certainly have talked to a lot of jockeys about it; asked how they felt.  A lot of them have indicated that….have spoken to me that not only do their horses feel sounder, but those that suffer from some arthritis, their knees and ankles feel better too.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And any issues, as you looked at, in terms of the track surface balling up in the horses’ shoes or hoofs?

DR. ARTHUR:  The primary problem has been in very cold environments where the wax gets very dense.  We’re probably going to have the opposite problem here in California.  We do monitor fatalities very carefully in California.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in the fatalities, any balling up or any sort of damage to the horses’ legs that, maybe, hit the ground unevenly due to that aspect?

DR. ARTHUR:  No.  In fact, the advantage of the surface is that they hit the surface more evenly and there’s less balling up with this surface—very definitely.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So let me, if I could, ask the question then, of all the material you looked at, you found no negative….I don’t think a committee has ever heard that “we never find anything negative.”  So there’s no concern at all you have whatsoever?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, I will tell you, that I think the only concern we would hear would be from, perhaps, Hollywood Park and those tracks that installed it, that there is a learning curve of maintaining it.  What we’ve heard from them is, as weather fluctuates, as temperature and moisture fluctuates, that they are on a learning curve of how best to maintain it.  But that’s the only thing that I’ve personally heard that is of concern.
MR. HARRIS:  Now, I think it isn’t a panacea; it’s not something we’d had this and we’re never going to have another problem.  It’s a learning curve and it’s going to improve.  And it’s probably going to improve the way we maintain it, but no one can say that it’s going to fix all of our problems.  But it is a big step.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  What was the timeframe given tracks to install a synthetic track?

MR. SHAPIRO:  The rule was adopted in May of ’06 and they were given until January 1st of ’08.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that a reasonable timeframe?  I mean, you know your industry better than I do, is that enough time; is that reasonable time in order to evaluate an $8- to $10 million investment?  How did the Board look at that?

MS. FERMIN:  Well, I know that probably the track that had the most difficulty with permits and such would have been Del Mar because of the Coastal Commission and such, and they were able to work their way through it and certainly meet the deadline without a problem.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Was that a live and learn experience with Del Mar?  Meaning, we hope they get it done in time?  And as we go through the permitting process, was there a look by the Board in terms of the timeframes necessary for folks to actually install these tracks without any sort of, if you will, environmental issues or entity issues?

MS. FERMIN:  I think probably Mr. Fravel can speak to that more specifically.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’ll ask Mr. Fravel when he comes up.  Let me ask another question in terms of why we are requiring only the major thoroughbred tracks install synthetic surfaces?  I mean, why not other types of venues?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Frankly, because of the economic costs, the other venues are primarily fairs and we all recognize that the fairs need help to rejuvenate their facilities and so forth.  They only run a couple of weeks a year, and so, the thought was that it would just be way too burdensome to do that for two weeks of racing a year.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Do any of you—the Board—is that some sort of double standard as just simply a profitability issue in terms of who could put a synthetic track in or not?
Fairs are going to be a long-term answer at some point in time when the industry consolidates, so I mean, at what point do we look at fairs and financing of fairs to include competitive surfaces such as—is the Board discussing that; looked at that? 

And Senator Wiggins has a question.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  Yes, I just wanted to say that in Sonoma County, at Santa Rosa Fairgrounds, they’re putting in a synthetic race track, so they are doing it.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Oh, I didn’t know that.  That’s great.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What other conditions could any of the five tracks get an exemption from installing these types of synthetic surfaces?  Are they any exemptions where one of the five tracks that come to the Board and say, “We absolutely feel, given the Board’s rule, that we deserve an exemption?”  I mean, was there a reason or a rationale for a track to do that, and was there anything in the rule that was passed that allowed for that?

MR. SHAPIRO:  No.  The rule was simply to provide that they do it and there wasn’t anything in the rule that provided for an exemption.  We have had, as I think everybody knows, one track that has come and asked for a waiver.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so, that would be the one track.  And therefore, the Board, how do you view that particular request; what do you believe is….did the Board take the appropriate action at that time; and where is the Board now, in terms of that particular exemption?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, I believe that that is probably the catalyst for a lot of the acrimony that has resulted in the industry.  And this was presented to the Board in March of this year.  Bay Meadows came forward and they asked for a two-year waiver.  And at that meeting, we asked them if they would commit to race for two years.  I think everybody in this room, including me—and I want to make sure everybody heard “including me”—does not want to see Bay Meadows close as a race track.  I think it would be a great loss to everybody.  But that’s not in our hands and I don’t begrudge, and I certainly don’t….I understand that people that own it, that’s their decision, but they came in and asked for a waiver.  
One of the problems we have is that if Bay Meadows is going to close, knowing when they close so that we can provide for continued racing opportunity after they close.  And also, the stabling and the living quarters for the grooms and all those jobs, that is all tied into this issue.
Personally, while I believe that the waiver was denied on a 4 - 2 vote, and John, you voted for it and I voted against it, I’m not opposed to giving them a waiver.  If, today, I was pressed and you said, “Would you vote to give them a waiver for a year?”  The answer is, “Yes, I would.  But what we need to do for this industry, which goes to what Senator Vincent said, is, we have to come together and we have to solve this problem of where we’re going to go beyond the year.  And so, I believe that that’s kind of where the situation arose and where it is.
MR. HARRIS:  And I think it’s important to look….the reason I voted to give them the waiver was not because I felt they shouldn’t put a synthetic track in, it’s just that we didn’t have anyplace else to go for 2008.  So, perhaps they should get a waiver and they should allow the race in 2008 there.  But going forward, we need a solution where northern California racing can be conducted on synthetic surfaces.  And to do that, if Bay Meadows is in fact going to go away and be developed, we need to start the planning process either at a fair or someplace that can really enable that.  But to do that, we need to have some certainty.  So, it’s a situation where we need to have a clear vision of where we’re going.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Yee.

SENATOR YEE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  I’ve got a number of questions—about 60 questions for Mr. Shapiro—but, since you started on the synthetic racing, can I follow up on that particular topic?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  If you can divide your 60 questions by topic; it would be wonderful.

SENATOR YEE:  I appreciate that.  I don’t want to interrupt your schedule.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, that’s okay.  I think if we were focusing on synthetic tracks, let’s go sequentially through this.

SENATOR YEE:  So, Mr. Shapiro, when your Board considered and ultimately enacted the rules on synthetic racing surfaces, do you know how many surfaces those kinds of surfaces existed in northern California around that time?

MR. SHAPIRO:  There weren’t any in California at that time.

SENATOR YEE:  What about northern California, do you know?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Pardon me.

SENATOR YEE:  In northern California….I mean, North America?
MR. HARRIS:  Which area are you referring to?

SENATOR YEE:  This was what?  I don’t know, when did you enact the rule?

MR. SHAPIRO:  In May of 2006.

SENATOR YEE:  In North America, do you know how many?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Oh, North America.  I believe when the rule was enacted there was Turfway Park, Keeneland had a training track and I’m not sure which others, sir.

SENATOR YEE:  And do you know how the poly-track over at Turfway in Florida, how does that perform?  Any information about that?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Anecdotally I know.  I’ve never been there.  

SENATOR YEE:  Neither have I, so I’m going to rely on you.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Okay, we’re equal then.  The first year they had phenomenal results—they had phenomenal results.  They then had some issues, I believe, with kickback and some changes and they had to go in and modify it.  I believe that they also, then, had very good results in the second year that they raced.  But, again, I don’t have the statistics.

DR. ARTHUR:  I could actually answer that question if you’d like, Senator Yee.

SENATOR YEE:  Sure.

DR. ARTHUR:  The first year there was over an 80 percent decrease in racing fatalities on the surface.  And the following year, with very, very cold weather, unusually cold weather, there was a 40 percent decrease from the pre-synthetic surface.

SENATOR YEE:  Okay.  And, Mr. Shapiro, you know, you had, kind of, raised some concern in the second year.  In 2006, I think you were quoted in the California Horse Racing Board meeting there saying that the track at Turfway Race Park is not what anyone would desire; is that about the kickback?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes.  What I was referring to was that I think everybody saw that their track seemed to have a lot of kickback, which they admitted.  Bob Ellison, who is the president of Turfway, he even admitted it.  And so, they said that when we were looking at it, if it was a poly-track, we didn’t want that poly-track.  Each of these tracks is kind of like a fingerprint; it’s a little bit different.  And so, that’s what I was referring to.

SENATOR YEE:  And what about Woodbine Race Course?  What do you know about Woodbine?
MR. SHAPIRO:  Woodbine?

SENATOR YEE:  Yes, how was that experience?
MR. SHAPIRO:  Again, I believe at Woodbine they’ve also had some challenges due to the weather.  You know, they have severe weather up there too.  And from what I know is, again anecdotally, that they had a problem with this balling up under the feet.  And so, I believe, as I said, they are somewhat of a work in progress.  Notwithstanding, I believe they had positive results.

SENATOR YEE:  And when your Board promulgated the requirement about the synthetic track, did you think about the impact that that would have on local governments and local jurisdictions….I mean, how that would effect the local economy?

MR. SHAPIRO:  I personally didn’t think of that.  If anything, I think it would help stimulate the local economy because I believe it would bring more horses, bring more fans, and so, I would hope that it would have a positive impact.

SENATOR YEE:  But if in a course of the rule, that that may cause the closing prematurely of a race track, did you kind of think about “Gee, what that would do to a local economy and local jurisdiction and local area?”
MR. SHAPIRO:  I didn’t think, nor did I believe, that it would lead to the closing of a race track, and I certainly still hope it doesn’t.

MR. HARRIS:  Yeah, I don’t think anyone brought that up at the time.  Bay Meadows could have brought that up if they wanted to, or San Mateo, or somebody, but no one came to us at that point and said, here’s some impacts to consider.

SENATOR YEE:  So, on that fateful day when you took the vote denying the waiver, I guess prior to the vote, had various kinds of discussions about it, and it didn’t come to your mind that maybe if we were to force an entity to spend $10 million but not too clear as to how they may, in fact, get back that $10 million, that maybe the most prudent business decision is to basically close the track and then as a result all the jobs that are lost, the local economy, the stimulus that you talked about, that would be taken away?  I mean, did you think about how that was going to affect the local community?

MR. HARRIS:  Just to go back, my statement was on the vote on synthetic tracks in general.  I don’t know if we looked at every locale and what that impact would be.  The actual vote on the Bay Meadows waiver, there was considerable discussion about all the different impacts there.

MR. SHAPIRO:  And we also, I think if you go back and look at the transcript, if anything, I was trying to find creative ways to see if they could afford it and find a way that they wouldn’t have that total impact.  And one of the things that I’ve heard is that….when we say a track, just because I’m sure you don’t know this, there’s two components to the track.  One is the drainage system—the subsurface and that’s a permanent thing that’s there.  And, what I’ve been told by those manufacturers that make these tracks that half the cost, and roughly, is in the subsurface and the other half is the dirt that the horses run on.  And I’ve also been told that you could pick up that dirt and move it.  And at the meeting I tried to, when we were having dialog about it, trying to say, well, could you not, you know, put it in and then resell the top layer if it was half (and let’s say it was $8 million so that’s $4 million)?  If you were able to resell the top surface after a year for $3 million, well, then your total outlay would not be an $8 million loss.  I was trying to find creative ways so that we could protect the horses and the riders and also keep Bay Meadows.  It was not my thought or vision that Bay Meadows would choose to close.

MR. HARRIS:  But I think at this point, though, that we are willing to re-look at the whole Bay Meadows issue for 2008.  I think we’re just not willing to stipulate that Bay Meadows should have a lifetime waiver forever and we are requiring it in all these other places.

SENATOR YEE:  You know, I think the reality of the decision that you took was, in fact….individuals are prepared to close the track; individuals are prepared to take their kids out of school midyear; individuals are prepared to relocate now; individuals are prepared to understand that they are not going to have health care services or other kinds of amenities because of the stimulus that is brought by horse racing in my community.  Those are the realities of decisions that you make.  I mean, you are the Horse Racing Board.  You’re not just some small committee, but have direct effect on the lives of children, on the lives of workers, on the lives of everyone in the greater Bay Area.  I think you just need to understand.  I mean, if you didn’t, now you know why we were so adamant about looking at some alternative rather than pulling the trigger.  It’s almost as if, and I hate to use this morbid analogy, it’s the person who is on its dying bed and we just pull the life saving medicine from that individual.  I think that’s what’s happened.  
The city council of San Mateo is committed now to not having that track at the end of this year.  County is also doing that.  You have the Labor Council of San Mateo County working with workers to figure out how they’re going to now move.  Children are now being told that they’re going to be not graduating from their high school and that they’re going to have to move somewhere, God knows where, and they’re going to have to graduate without their friends.  I mean, those are realities of what the decision that you made.

Let me ask you one other question; you know, in the Business and Professional Code by which we are all operating under in Section 19401, it says, “That it is the intent of the Legislature that the CHRB provide uniformity in regulations for each type of horse racing.”  And in light of that particular requirement that we’re all operating under, clearly we, or you, have made a decision that for those tracks that operate four weeks or longer, they operate by one rule; if you do less than that, you operate by another set of rules.  And did you kind of understand that to some extent you were violating that B&P section of the code?  And to some extent I even understand why you had certain rules for fairs and others for other tracks and so on, but did you kind of understand what’s going on relative to that particular provision—the B&P Code?
MR. HARRIS:  I think we understood it.  I mean, that was a decision just based on a logical choice, and there’s no easy choices.  I mean, if the Legislature feels that every track should have a synthetic surface, I don’t think we’d oppose a law like that if you want to put one in.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, we had a bill to finance that—fairs—but it didn’t make it out of Approps.

SENATOR YEE:  If I can ask you this then; since you were clearly sensitive to the fact that some tracks on fairs probably would not be able to generate the kinds of revenue in order to do the poly-track and other tracks probably could, that within the body of those tracks that are outside of the fair tracks, that there are some unequalness too; that some tracks are a little bit, maybe, stronger than others financially; and so, why didn’t you kind of look at maybe certain tracks deserve certain kinds of dispensations or considerations relative to the requirement of the poly-track?

MR. HARRIS:  I’m not sure which tracks…

SENATOR YEE:  My tracks based….

MR. HARRIS:  Well, I think that shareholders of Bay Meadows have much deeper pockets than the shareholders of Golden Gate in my estimation. 

SENATOR YEE:  Well, clearly, you had a track that was in not as good shape as maybe some other tracks witnessed by the fact that by your action of requiring that they installed the poly-track or else.  That they basically then said, “We cannot afford to do that, and therefore we are closing the track.”  Now, I have not heard any other tracks saying, “That if you force us to do that, we will close our tracks,” but Bay Meadows, in fact, said that.  And so, given the fact that you are giving some consideration to the fairs and not requiring them to have poly-tracks, and as you said in your testimony, you said, “that given the financial demands on those fair tracks that we then felt that we should exempt them from that,” if you kind of consider those fairs for some extra consideration, why not look at the remainder of the tracks that we’re talking about and see whether or not some tracks may, in fact, need a little bit more help and maybe lessening the requirement of that particular track—maybe not right away, but down the road at some point?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, Senator Yee, I hear you and I respect your view.  And believe me, I don’t believe our Board, and certainly I didn’t, have any vision of wanting to harm any people, any of your constituents or the community; okay?  Again, as I said in the beginning, I, and I believe every board member, would love to see Bay Meadows remain a race track.  

Bay Meadows races over, I believe, 120 days in a year that they operate.  I don’t believe the problem was that they couldn’t afford to put in a race track, I think, as I understand it, it may not have been a business decision given the limited term that they planned to operate.  If there is a way, and in the past I had spoken to them and said, “How can we save these race tracks?  Is there any way to save these race tracks?”  We don’t want to see Bay Meadows close.  We’re on the same page there.  I mean, but this was not in our, at least, not in my mind, and again, I am just one vote of seven.  And the Chairman is not afforded any more authority or power than any other member.  And what I…
SENATOR YEE:  In this committee it does.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, at the Racing Board it doesn’t.  At the Racing Board it’s just a heck of a lot more work and you get a lot of complaints.  But, we wanted to find a way to keep Bay Meadows operating.  And not four days after we met, we had that meeting in March, I and the head of the thoroughbred owners and the head of the trainers flew up and met with fifty trainers from Bay Meadows in northern California and said, “Look, we want to keep Bay Meadows.  We are willing to work with Bay Meadows.  We’re not trying to put them out of business.  It’s not what we want.”  
SENATOR YEE:  And I appreciate your words, and I do accept them.  I think the only problem is, what comes to mind, is when we talk to our students in our schools and say, “We want you to succeed.  We dearly, dearly want you to succeed,” but then we don’t give the resources in which to succeed and I think that’s the problem.  I do believe that you want Bay Meadows to stay open.  But the problem is, that by the action of the Board, and by yours and your colleagues votes, you basically said, “Well, we may say that, we may want that, but we’re not going to let you do that,” and that’s the difficulty I have.

MR. SHAPIRO:  If I can ask you a question; I mean, we tried to consider that, but please keep in mind that we’re trying to look after the health and the welfare of those people that are actually on those race tracks too.  

SENATOR YEE:  Let’s get to that particular point; okay?  

MR. SHAPIRO:  Pardon me.

SENATOR YEE:  Let’s get to that particular point, you know, relative to the health and safety of these poly-tracks and so on.  I understand that there was testimony given before the Natural Institute of Occupational Safety and Health.  It was given by Dr. David Seftel(?), and in there he indicated in his testimony of May 22, 2007, where he did, in fact, raise some health concerns about the synthetic racing surface.  And he had said that with respect to the emerging installation of synthetic surfaces, “This movement appears to be largely driven by anecdotal evidence suggesting that these surfaces may be less traumatic to horses and therefore result in fewer breakdowns and soft tissue injuries.  However, no good independent peer review studies have been done in documenting the safety of the plume produced by the horses’ hoofs and tractors grooming to both horses and humans.”  And then he goes on to say that, “In the survey of the Jockey Health Initiative view that there is significant concern regarding respiratory compromises that warrant closer investigation.”  And then he summarized by just simply saying that, “The measure of restraint is probably in order until independent peer review studies can be done to demonstrate the synthetic surface are indeed safe for horses and humans.”
Do you have any comments about that?

MR. SHAPIRO:  I know Dr. Seftel(?).  I have been working with him and others on a comprehensive health study for the benefit of the jockeys that we hope that will be something that can be adopted nationally.  I’ve never heard that before and I was unaware of those remarks.  I don’t know anything about that.  He’s never said anything to me.
SENATOR YEE:  Well, I’m just hoping in light of the information I’ve just shared, that you take this back to your ward and just think about, maybe instead of rushing to judgment on these tracks, that you do some longitudinal….we get some longitudinal data about what are the consequences, health consequences of these synthetic tracks on humans and animals.  I know that in Alameda County they’re ________ to as for an EIR report relative to these particular tracks before they’re installed.  We don’t have longitudinal data.  
I know, Mr. Shapiro, you’re a young man; I’m an old man, but I remember asbestos and people breathe that stuff.  And it was not until 20 years and later before we found problems.  And guess what?  Workers suffer; workers die.  And if you try to go back and recover cost of medical care and other kinds of care, companies declare bankruptcy and we end up letting these workers and these animals….they’re left holding the bag.  The companies are not around to pay for those damages.  
I don’t know if, and I would ask the Chair to maybe look into legal counsel, but if the Horse Racing Board is saying that unless you put in these tracks, you cannot race, do we assume liability for any health consequences down the road?  Because the State of California, through you, are requiring that we put these tracks in and are we liable, then, for any health damages, health problems, health costs down the road because we are requiring that these jockeys, these animals and other individuals breathe all of this material.
MR. HARRIS:  I agree, it would be nice to have some studies, and I think we can get some.  But I think, clearly, that there are many, many more jockeys and horses that have been killed on the traditional tracks than there have been on the synthetic tracks, even proportionately to about a start, so I think we’ve got something that’s unsafe there, and I don’t know if the air quality, if there’s anything to it; I really don’t think there is.  They’ve had these synthetic tracks in England for over ten years.  But, we’ll sure look at it.  But I think we’ve got to look at the facts we have.  And the fact that we know there’s a better technique for tracks out there and we’re not adopting it, gives us a greater liability.

DR. ARTHUR:  Senator Yee, I can’t comment on the jockey situation, but I can tell you, I was at the UC Davis campus today and discussed the need for longitudinal studies with Dr. Alex Ardans, who is head of the California Animal Health and Food Safety Laboratories and does a necropsy program.  This is an issue that we’ve discussed before these tracks were put in place.  And to have a longitudinal study, you have to have some longitude, and that is time.  And we are prepared, able and in a better position than anyplace else in the world to evaluate this on both musculoskeletal injuries, and in terms of respiratory conditions.  So, we will do that for the horse.
SENATOR YEE:  In all due deference to you, Doctor, I would rather use England as the guinea pig than my state of California.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good point.  Senator Denham.

SENATOR DENHAM:  And on this same line of questioning; as you look at the liability with the poly-tracks, I’d also ask you to look at our liability if we don’t do it.  Knowing that there’s a safer track out there, if we don’t do this, you know with the dust and the PM-10s and the risk to the jockeys from that, or the risk to the jockeys with lawsuits from their families as they get hurt over the next two years with an exemption, so let’s look at our liability all the way around.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Yee.

SENATOR YEE:  Just one last point; under Prop. 65, we’re all supposed to list certain kinds of chemicals that may be harmful and so on; are you aware of any chemicals within the poly-track that may fall under the Prop. 65 warning?

MR. SHAPIRO:  I believe that there have been studies done on each of the different vendors and I believe that they’ve looked at….and I know that Del Mar has done an exhaustive analysis and study which they were required to do before installing it because of the Coastal Commission.  And I believe each of them has done that and we have seen those studies, sir.
SENATOR YEE:  It’s my understanding that I think you got silica sand and that falls within the purview of Prop. 65.  I don’t know, you may have to have some further discussion on your board as to whether or not you need to require that anybody who puts these poly-tracks, that there is fair warning that there are potentially dangerous chemicals.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Okay, I appreciate it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Wiggins.  

SENATOR WIGGINS:  I don’t know why we’re talking about the safety of synthetic fields because they are found to be safer for the horses and for the jockeys, so this discussion doesn’t make sense to me.  But I also assume that when the Board put the regulation in place for synthetic fields, that you did a comprehensive and thorough study of the impacts, so maybe you want to address that.
MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, we did.  We had looked at the data of what was going on in terms of the fatalities that were occurring on our race tracks.  California does have a necropsy program, the only state that does have one.  And we’ve seen an alarmingly increasing rate of fatalities on the race tracks.  We had every vendor known to us that manufactures these tracks and we had, as I said earlier, six study sessions so that we could understand them, look at the benefits of them, ask questions—every race track in the State was there to ask their questions.  There were many trips that were taken where these tracks were viewed.  And I believe that many people here in the audience, are some of those people that did that.  And again, when we adopted this rule, it was done unanimously by the Board and without any dissension from any of the race tracks or any in the industry.
SENATOR WIGGINS:  That sounds positive.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, let’s get some closure on this particular aspect—the synthetic turf.  Let me just follow up Senator Yee’s questions with a little more specifics.  So, is the Bay Meadows, in particular, going to receive from the Board, in your view, a vote to an exemption?  I think Vice-Chairman Harris mentioned that it could be revisited.  Do you imagine that the Board or, Ingrid, that the Board may revisit this given the comments made today?
MR. SHAPIRO:  Our next meeting is June 19th and as I…

MS. FERMIN:  It’s on the agenda for the June 19th meeting to be considered.

MR. SHAPIRO:  As Mr. Harris and I discussed with Senator Yee in his office on Monday, I believe the Board would be inclined to grant them a waiver given the circumstances and given Senator Yee’s concerns.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And given that decision is still for vote; correct?

MS. FERMIN:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that going to relieve the concern of Senator Yee that 500 jobs will be displaced?  I mean, 500 jobs just for one more year or how about the years after?

MR. SHAPIRO:  I can’t fully address Senator Yee’s concerns.  I would hope that those jobs are still there.  I don’t know which jobs they are, but when Bay Meadows eventually closes, as they’ve stated they would, you know, I would hope that we can replace those jobs in that community.  And, I hope that wagering will continue to be offered at the San Mateo Fair immediately next door, and some of those jobs can be retained in San Mateo.  But, you know, I don’t know.  Hopefully they won’t close and they’ll stay in business.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I guess the final question I have, at least on the synthetic turf portion of this, is that there has been lots of discussions about the Board, itself, as an administrative branch being critical of state government, in general, meaning the policymakers here in Sacramento, do you have an opinion on that?  I mean, what is the role and your viewpoint between the Board and the Legislature, at least in a policy….we’re not the Budget Committee so we’re not asking you to justify your budget….but I mean, from a policy, every day policy point of view, what would be your view?  And I would like to get the Chair and the Vice-Chair’s view of this because we don’t have the whole Board here.  But, you know, there has been discussions about, critical statements about the Legislature.  I’d like to have a discussion about that because I’d like to have that on the record.

MR. HARRIS:  I think that some of those have been blown out of proportion.  I recall the meeting.  There were some statements made by commissioners that were concerned about, there was a lot of lobbying going on to try to influence them on the dates that were going to be awarded, but I think that’s just part of being a commissioner or a legislator—you’re going to get lobbied—and I think they just hadn’t really experienced that and were just venting that it’s a hassle, which I’m sure all of you probably do the same thing at times.  But, I mean, the Legislature does write the laws, so you can write any law you want and in any direction that you want.  But when the Racing Board is trying to work with those laws to best serve the racing needs of the State, we can write rules that maybe implement the laws, which is what we did with the synthetic track, which could have been a law itself, but it’s made by being a rule you have a little more flexibility.  Where with a rule we could do a waiver, where if it’s just a law, there couldn’t have been a waiver.  So, that was one reason that having a rule makes sense.  
But as I see it, I’m sure Richard would like to comment, that I think we’ve got a good working relationship with the Legislature and we’ve got enough problems on the outside that we don’t need to be fighting within the family.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Chairman Shapiro.

MR. SHAPIRO:  I believe that my remarks and a few others that stem from the October board meeting of last year, where it was a very difficult discussion, a very acrimonious issue that we were dealing with and we had received a lot of lobbying.  And frankly, I’ll be the first to confess, I don’t have a lot of political experience.  This is all new to me.  I didn’t know what to expect and I was surprised by it.  
I believe that my comments, people took them, unfortunately, at directing them at the Legislature which was not what I was directing them to, but I was talking about the people that were in our audience and why were they doing that.  But in hind sight, I went back and read the transcript and I can see where some of you may have been offended and for which I apologize, and I’ve tried to apologize to those people that have expressed offense.  
But it is a different world, and I think that it is critical that we hear from each and every one of you.  I think that it is critical that we get your input.  Because without you, we can’t help this industry grow.  And this industry desperately needs you.  We’re regulators and we’re trying to do the best we can.  And we’re, unfortunately, in the middle of family fights a lot.  But you guys are the ones with the tools that can help give this industry what it needs so that there isn’t so much fighting.  And so, of course, I want to work with each and every one of you.  Even though some of you have criticized me, I still want to work with you.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Senator Vincent.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Mr. Shapiro, I was going to let this go, but you said “criticize you” and these gentlemen asked you questions.  I go to the race track more than you guys probably do.  I’m probably around horses more than you are, although I know you own them—you’re a horse owner.  
I just want to ask you, Mr. Shapiro, you own a horse, a licensed horse for California horse racing and you’re on the Board.  And I talked to you.  Remember when we talked about a year ago in my office?

MR. SHAPIRO:  We met a month…less than that.

SENATOR VINCENT:  We talked before that, because giving you a start and giving you what was going to happen.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes.

SENATOR VINCENT:  But apparently, you know what I said before.  As a commissioner, and some statements you made, and if you didn’t make them….I understand your opinion about some things.  You talked about the poly-track.  I heard you say some terrible things about Santa Anita—the backside, the barn area.  Remember about the rats?  

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Okay.  I’m glad you remember that.  What I’m saying to you, you remember what a “swing week” is?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, why did you swing to Santa Anita and take it away from Hollywood Park.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:   And we’re going to get to the racing date issue in a moment, but to read the last chapter of the book, why don’t you go ahead and tell us that answer now and it will build in to that.  We’ll fill in for Senator Vincent.

SENATOR VINCENT:  He better come to my office.  We want to talk in my office.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, let’s do that then.  But, Senator Vincent, we will get to that.  That is the crescendo of the last set of hearings, and Senator Yee has questions about that as well.  But Senator Yee, do you want to go ahead and ask your questions.

SENATOR YEE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  This goes in line with some of the comments that the Chair made and that has to do with, I think, that fateful meeting and I’m still rather disturbed and concerned about it.  And I hear the words, but I just need to understand to some extent, is it __________.  Do you understand a relationship between the Legislature and your particular board?
MR. SHAPIRO:  I believe I do.  I’m certainly willing to listen if you feel I don’t.

SENATOR YEE:  Well, I don’t know if you understand that it is the Legislature that created the Board and that there is, then, that close working relationship between the Legislature and the Board.  And this particular body, the larger body, confirms the members that sit on that particular board.  And so, there needs to be a rather close working relationship as you indicated, Mr. Shapiro, between what you do and what we do here.  And so, it was rather difficult for me to find out about the decision of the Board, and we’ve had this discussion before, about what happened prior to the vote and maybe you didn’t know exactly what was going to happen with the vote.  But clearly after the vote, no one contacted me about the decision of that Board.  So, it’s hard for me to understand if we’re going to work together, then where’s the lines of communication?  Someone could argue that, well, I should have stayed on top of what you were doing and whether or not you were going to do harm to my race track, my jurisdiction, but it seemed to me, that it is incumbent upon the Board to let us know what you are doing and particularly how it may affect our district.  And that’s the concern that I have.  I know that you say you want to work with us, but I just haven’t sensed that, and I have some difficulty in terms of, then, how do we move forward; how do we demonstrate that, in fact, you want to work with us?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Senator Yee, let me restate it then; okay?  I assure you that I want to work with you.  I have tried to meet with you much earlier, and I appreciate that we met on Monday.  I have been up here and tried to meet with you on a number of occasions, and I know you’re busy and I’m not faulting, but in fact, immediately after that decision I had an appointment to meet with you but unfortunately you were called away.  So, I will assure you, you will hear from me, and you’ll probably hear from me more than you want to hear from me, because I do want to work with you.  I want to work with every senator that’s here, because until we can get the Legislature and the Governor’s Office to come together, we’re not going to help the people back here, which is what we need to do.  So, I hear you; I appreciate it; and I look forward to working with you.
Thank you very much.

MR. HARRIS:  You can do something positive too.  I think it’s important to remember, this is a board that’s subject to open meetings, I mean, our CHRB.  Richard and I can talk back and forth, for instance, but we can’t go out of this meeting and call every board member and say, “You know, we’ve got this waiver coming up and we really want to go for that, and this and that”—that’s in violation of the law.  You can’t do that.  I’d sure suggest that you and your staff and anybody that’s interested, all the senators or assembly people that are interested will call the Board or write the Board and express that.  But it’s hard for us to guarantee a vote.
SENATOR YEE:  I’m not asking for that; all I’m asking is that there…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  If a hearing is cancelled then you can’t guarantee a vote. (laughter)

Senator Vincent, go ahead.  I don’t think Senator Yee is asking for that.

SENATOR VINCENT:  This is directed at Mr. Shapiro.  I know you can recall this.  When you came to my office at one time and I saw the name “Shapiro,” that name “Shapiro” lit my lights up.  And you know what I said?  I said to him, based on what I thought was going on, “You couldn’t be, by any means, related to a horse that I’m going to mention?  Now this horse won the Hollywood Gold Cup three times.  The only horse in history…

MR. SHAPIRO:  Now, how are we going to beat Lava Man is what I want to know?

SENATOR VINCENT:  Let me tell you.  I’m talking about Native Diver; do you know him?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Of course I do.

SENATOR VINCENT:  That’s what I’m talking about.  Okay.  Shapiro, right?  So when you come to my office we’re going to have a nice conversation.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Okay, yes, sir.

SENATOR YEE:  Through the Chair, if I can ask Mr. Shapiro this question; let’s go back to that October 26th....when I read your comments, it seemed as if it’s really directed at the legislators who contacted you.  It says that….this is in regard to the racing dates and you said that, “But I resent that over the last few weeks I have heard from the president of the Senate, Assembly leaders and various senators, and even spoke to the Governor’s office.”  So, you stand by that statement that you resent that you, over the last few weeks that you’ve heard from the president of the Senate, the Assembly leaders, various senators and even spoken to the Governor’s office?

MR. SHAPIRO:  No, Senator.  If I could put my foot in my mouth right now, I would do it, because I’m sorry that came out of my mouth.  As I said a few minutes ago, the resentment that I was expressing at that moment, which again, was after a very long hearing and a very heated discussion, was not towards those people but rather to the people that were in front of us in our audience.  And since, I have met with some of those people; I have apologized to Senator Perata, not once but twice.  I have tried to make amends to make sure that everyone up here realized I did not mean to direct it towards any legislator.  I understand your position.  I understand how important it is to help us, so I certainly do not stand by anything that was saying I resent hearing from any legislators.

SENATOR YEE:  With that, if I can move slightly in a different vein.  This is material that the Chair provided.  Mr. Shapiro, are you familiar with a newspaper column that appeared in yesterday’s Sacramento Bee written by Mr. Dan Walters on horse racing issues?

MR. SHAPIRO:  I saw it.  

SENATOR YEE:  And are you familiar with a Don Fields who is a PR consultant who works here in Sacramento?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes.  He met with me once.

SENATOR YEE:  You had conversations with Mr. Fields regarding his efforts to encourage that the article be printed, or having conversations with him about promulgating some of the things that are within a memo that he has that it be disseminated widely and so on?

MR. SHAPIRO:  No.  I’ve talked to lots of reporters and I met with him, as I do other reporters, to try and explain…

SENATOR YEE:  Reporters?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Right.

SENATOR YEE:  What reporter is that?
MR. SHAPIRO:  I mean, I met with him the same as I meet with a lot of other reporters.

MR. HARRIS:  Not Walters but….Dan Walters is probably one of the most respected political columnists in the nation, really.  To suggest that he is a….somebody who can be easily influenced by some alleged political hack is pretty ridiculous, I think.

SENATOR YEE:  Okay.  And, Mr. Shapiro, have you ever provided compensation or contracted with Mr. Fields to compensate him for any of his efforts relating to press articles or a hearing today?
MR. SHAPIRO:  Absolutely not.

SENATOR YEE:  And have you ever had a conversation with 
Mr. Fields’ effort with any person or entity who is licensed by CHRB?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Explain that.  I didn’t hear the question, sir.

SENATOR YEE:  Did you have any conversation with Mr. Fields’ effort with any person or entity who is also licensed within the CHRB?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, we were talking about issues and during the conversation we talked about people that are licensed.

SENATOR YEE:  And then, did you, in any way, encourage the compensation of Mr. Fields in any of these efforts?

MR. SHAPIRO:  No.

SENATOR YEE:  Thank you.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Sure.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, let’s go ahead and turn, if we could, to race dates, which is the second part of the hearing.  And if you have questions….I do want Mr. Yee to know, you asked fifteen questions, the Chair’s only asked six, so I’m going to try to catch up with you here in a minute.  But very good questions.

SENATOR YEE:  But I’m still learning from you, Mr. Chair.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, let’s go ahead and go to race dates.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Let me say one thing about the race….since we’re starting the race dates…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

SENATOR VINCENT:  We’re starting race dates, Mr. Shapiro.  I want you to keep in mind something that I’m going to say.  I’m not going to say it; I’m going to say it to you later.  Keep in mind “swing week”.  Do you know what “swing week” is?  Do you know what I’m talking about?  Swinging at Hollywood Park?
MR. HARRIS:  (chuckle)  Is that a dance or something?

MR. SHAPIRO:  You’re not insinuating I swing or anything, are you?

SENATOR VINCENT:  No.  You were on the panel when you talked about “swing week”.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Swing week, I got it, Senator.

SENATOR VINCENT:  And before you swung them where you would have had rats.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, let’s get to the “swing week” issue, but let’s work our way sequentially, if we could, Mr. Shapiro, in a policy sense, so the committee can understand best what race dates….where we’re going, I mean, quite frankly, and the longer, the bigger policy issues of whether or not these are working for us and what is on the horizon in the future?  Let me do state that….as we get to race dates, I mean, I think it’s important to note that we first and foremost want to know about the strategy, if we could, about behind allocations because we just had a context here in the Legislature and Vice-Chair Harris has mentioned there is a context where the Legislature sets a, and it’s a historic context for race dates, so maybe you can take us through that and then we’ll proceed through going forward.
MR. SHAPIRO:  The race dates are actually pursuant to laws which you all enact, and there is horse racing law which essentially allocates within different zones of the State how many weeks can be run by each breed in the different zones of the State.

MR. HARRIS:  _________ association _______ the maximum on association.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, I don’t think it names the associations.

MR. HARRIS:  But by a racing association.

MR. SHAPIRO:  By a racing association.  So, there is horse racing law that is rather limiting so that we have to follow these guidelines.  It’s then put upon the Horse Racing Board to actually award those dates.  And just to give you a visual, if you see this schedule I’m holding up, every different color you see is a different association in Southern California.  And what you’re seeing is a whole year here.  And what we try to do is allocate the race dates to the various racing associations and fit them into that calendar.  We do the same in northern California.  And if you were to look at the northern California calendar it looks a lot easier except you then have to fit the fairs into it and, as you can see, there’s many, many more colors.  So the Racing Board each year, licenses are granted on an annual basis, so every year there is a calendar that’s developed pursuant to the law which the industry will try to work through initially and we then have a committee (which has formerly been the Race Dates Committee and we now call it the Race Dates and Strategic Planning Committee) so that we can work through coming up with the best viable calendar that we can.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is this a zero sum game—race dates?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Uhm.

MR. HARRIS:  That’s the problem, everyone would like….I mean, the best situation would probably be to have everybody work it out themselves and come to us, but they never can work it out so we’ve got to do it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so somebody has to be the arbiter here.
MR. SHAPIRO:  We end up being exactly that.  We end up being the arbitrator in most cases.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But then, to be the arbiter and the reason that no one is working it out, to go to Vice-Chair Harris’ comment, is that it is a zero sum.  Just so that we as a committee understand, it is a zero sum game.  So in other words, you’re not going to race on Christmas Day, you’re going to race the day after Christmas.
MR. HARRIS:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The 26th.  And then you’re going to look.  Some days they’re off Mondays and Tuesdays and there’s really no room in the calendar, from your point of view at this time, in order to find the appropriate piece for the folks that come to you?

MR. SHAPIRO:  And it changes because of the uniqueness.  The horse racing calendar starts on December 26th.  As a lot of things you’ll learn in horse racing is history and historical precedence, and I think when God invented horse racing, they decided that what do you open the day after Christmas—Santa Anita.  And so the calendar starts when Santa Anita starts.  And what we then find is that there are other sacred dates.  And in southern California another sacred period is, when does Del Mar end?  They end the Monday or Wednesday after Labor Day.  So what happens is, there are only so many weeks because of when those dates fall that are available to fill in the calendar, and that’s what created the “squeeze week” or the “swing week”.

MR. HARRIS:  What happened originally was, Del Mar went a week after Labor Day; a whole other week after that Labor Day.  But, that created other problems, so it was thought that they would end on the Wednesday after Labor Day and that created the “swing week”.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That historic precedent and priority, has that been profitable for the industry?  Has it worked?  Is it really maximizing the institutions and the facilities we have in order for them to survive?  A really honest question.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, that is a very important question to be answered because what we have done is, we have allocated dates based on history and keeping the same place.  Being the outspoken person I am, I don’t think it would surprise anybody to know that I believe that as this industry continues its decline that we should….I have made statements and believe that we should be looking to more deregulation so that we can put dates where they are going to benefit the industry overall.  Now, that won’t be viewed popularly by some who aren’t doing as well, and when it gets to the “swing week” in terms of my vote, and I was just one vote, although it was a unanimous vote, of our Board, it was one of the considerations that I used in my vote, which was, that Santa Anita had had a banner year the year before.  They were up something like 15 percent in handle and attendance, and I felt that they deserved that and it would benefit the industry.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Before we get Senator Vincent’s blood going, let’s go through this, if we could, Mr. Shapiro, sequentially.  I just want to understand, if we could, again, you mentioned the rationale in historic nature of dates….and I know as we all take over the chairmanship of this committee, everybody hands you, tries to hand you over Ralph Dills’ sports coat and a Ken Maddy gavel and there’s a lot of history behind the committee and Senator Vincent chaired as well….and I think the point for me is that history sometimes isn’t the best indicator of success.  Things decline sometimes if you continue to follow that model.  And we changed our presidential primary here once in a while, too, and then we have precedent for that, but we do it for reasons that are, in many cases, important.  I guess the issue I have is, is the race date issue always going to be a zero sum game based on historic calendar, or, at some point is the Board going to look at this from the issue, as you just mentioned, the market forces that actually drive the racing date calendar?  Those tracks that actually have the ability to maximize, and I know there are lots of hurt feelings and there’s folks that say that’s just going to destroy the industry, but has the Board really explored that in any true sense of the word?

MR. SHAPIRO:  No, it hasn’t.


MR. HARRIS:  Part of the problem is though, that you….is a very big plus of having two tracks in each area—the Bay Area and Los Angeles—because if you only had one, you wouldn’t have enough stalls.  They don’t really have the real estate to build a whole lot more stalls where they are probably.  Plus, there’s a thought that if you had year-round racing in any one facility that probably would not be in the best interest…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Oh, I’m not necessarily talking about the overlapping of dates; I’m saying that if there are tracks that have capacity to maximize attendance and they’re empty at a time when we need profit in the industry, while smaller entities are open based on something that was voted in tier in 1938, I’m just not understanding the rationale for that.  Maybe I’m the new guy…


MR. HARRIS:  I think the problem is that you don’t want….you want both of them there, so at some level the one that didn’t get the dates they wanted could say, look, we’re going to go away and that would be a minus, so it’s a little bit of a poker game to try to sort out all the priorities.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about one that’s going to go away in two years; what happens to those dates?


MR. SHAPIRO:  That’s the $64 million question that we face, and it’s something that is of huge concern and that’s why we formed the Strategic Planning Committee to try and plan for the future.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And you renamed the committee with a strategic focus as well.  Give us the rationale for the racing date and strategic planning aspect.  What is the Board thinking about?


MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, the Board, in my opinion, as part of our fiduciary responsibility, should be looking at how we plan not just for next year, but looking well beyond it.  How are we going to encourage investment in those tracks that are going to remain in the racing business?  Most of our race tracks are over fifty years old; how are we going to compete in the marketplace?  It doesn’t make much sense to me that we award race dates on a year basis without giving people the assurance that if they invest and they improve that they can achieve more.  And we also….one of the big questions to ask is; should performance be a component to how dates are awarded?  And again, these are very threatening things to those in the industry who are used to doing it the same way.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right, but that’s your job.  I mean, your job is to stand up to those in the industry and police folks and say that’s the way it’s going to be, as unpopular and as much as this ends up back here in the Legislature.

MR. SHAPIRO:  I think I’ll be back here, if ever, again.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Senator Wiggins.


SENATOR WIGGINS:  I think, you know, the issue of purses is really important; what are your thoughts on how we can get bigger purses?  Because the best horses are going out of state, and one idea was that there could be slot machines in race tracks—that didn’t go anywhere.


MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, my answer is, is first of all, everybody who is sitting behind me, I believe, wishes that we would find some $300 million bill somewhere to save horse racing.  But if that doesn’t happen, frankly I think Senator Florez had a bill that recently (SB 873)….which I thought was a wonderful first step to helping revigorate horse racing and get purses up.  
We have a huge problem facing California racing.  And we had a legislative day up here on Monday, and we unfortunately are not going to have slot machines in race tracks in any time in the near future.  That doesn’t mean that we shouldn’t all get together and find a way to use our product, whether it be through instant racing machines, whether it be through expanding our wagering facilities into sports bars in other places to help this industry, that we need to find a way to keep every race track operator, make them healthier; get the purses up so we don’t lose the horses and we keep the trainers and the owners invested in our game.  It is a huge problem.  And while we are here today dealing with some very important and smaller issues, that’s the real problem.  And somehow we as an industry, including the Racing Board, have to participate to get that message through to where we can get relief for this industry, because if that happens, I don’t think we’d be fighting over closing race tracks.


SENATOR WIGGINS:  Mr. Chairman, what was in your bill?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You never ask a legislator a senator’s bill.  Staff? (laughter)  A lot of good things, Senator Wiggins—a lot of good things.  But, Senator Wiggins, as you probably know, this was a unanimous vote from the committee and I do thank the committee.  And the goal of the bill was, obviously, to try to take what we were currently funding out of the, if you will, ADW dollars and the Board and fairs and try to offload them.  So, in essence, the purse money, the profitability that was really going to pay for things the State should pay for, ultimately, went to purses; went to, if you will, to build the kinds of things that you have asked for and it’s a positive vote for that.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  And it got held in Approps?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can we move on, Chairman Shapiro?


MR. SHAPIRO:  Sorry.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  It did, but we have not given up on that bill.  We’ll still be working on that and so stay tuned on the bill.  We have an announcement in a couple of days.


Let me ask, if I could, a question, and I want to then get to Senator Vincent’s questions about the 2007 race dates, the Hollywood Park issue, the “swing week”, and, ultimately, what was at stake in that discussion on that day.  But before I do that, let me ask, the overlap question of dates, is that being experimented with, if you will, in the north?


MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what is your opinion of that experiment?  What is that telling us?  Would that have been done five years ago, six years ago, ten years ago?  And why is that happening?


MR. SHAPIRO:  I don’t think it would have been done.  But John Harris was on the Board then.  But we are doing it to try….one of the things that people don’t realize is, sometimes we may have too many race dates.  We have only so many horses to go around.  And when you spread it so thin, we don’t put on a good show in two venues.  We may be better off putting on a show on one venue that could be better.  And some of the fairs have struggled because they are overlapped.  And so, what we’re trying to do is take out the overlap and allow each of the race meets that are operating at that specific time, to have the spotlight on them to give them an opportunity to do better.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The reason I asked the question, Vice-Chairman Harris mentioned, you know, the thought was that these groups would get together and kind of come back to the Board with a plan.  Have they done that better in the north than the south?


MR. SHAPIRO:  Uhm, I don’t know.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  It sounds like they have.  I’m asking a question.

MR. HARRIS:  Not really.  I think originally there was no overlap in the north, like, 25 years or so ago, and that, I think there was a plan that allowed some overlap then.  But now, with the horse situation, it’s…I basically think we don’t need the overlap in the north.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s get to the Hollywood Park issue.  Obviously, all of our staffs have read the transcripts on the discussion the boards have had on that date, as Senator Yee has mentioned.  And the transcripts are rather, as I mentioned, tame.  I think they were more exciting than the legislative hearings that we’ve had here, at least that particular transcript because there’s quite a bit of disagreement on the allocation of those particular dates.  And I’m wondering if you could summarize for us what was at stake from your vantage point and, ultimately how the decision came to be, and then, I know Senator Yee and Senator Vincent will have some questions on that.
MR. SHAPIRO:  When this was heard last year we had the unfortunate circumstance of having Santa Anita wanting what would be their closing week to be their seventeenth week of racing and we had Hollywood Park wanting it to be their opening week of racing.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And why were we in that situation again?  What caused that?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Because December 26th fell on a particular day and I don’t remember what the day was.  And when you start from there and then you back up from when Del Mar closes, it only provided so much time for Santa Anita to run its seventeen weeks and Hollywood Park to run its thirteen weeks.  So, if my math is right and that’s thirty weeks, we only had twenty-nine and so we had the Squeeze Week.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does that speak positively of the historic nature on the books that things start December 26th and that’s the way it’s always going to be?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Pardon me.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Does that mean that that’s a good thing that the Legislature says it’s going to start on December 26th or should we allow flexibility?

MR. SHAPIRO:  I think you probably should allow flexibility and maybe we need to change it, but I’m not sure it was the Legislature that said it starts on December 26th.  I think it said so many weeks of….I think it says, “Santa Anita, you get seventeen weeks; Hollywood Park you get thirteen weeks.”  It’s not said that way.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I got it.  So it was your fault, not ours.  
MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, it’s their fault.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I got it.  Okay.  

MR. SHAPIRO:  But we were caught in the middle of this horrible situation.  And leading up to it I must tell you that there was a lot of discussion and just a tremendous amount of acrimony and outpouring.  And what we had at that particular juncture was, we had Santa Anita having done an incredible job on their meet.  And as an overview, we had passed the mandate for the synthetic tracks, so we passed that mandate in May.  So, Santa Anita runs its meet and they have just this incredibly great meet.  Hollywood, you know, thankfully they took the initiative.  We were all complementary.  They’ve moved forward and they’ve put in this synthetic track that they’re going to put in and they moved forward on their own.  So now we had two good guys.  And so, the Board was faced….but these two good guys wanted this same week.  And, in fact, it’s really not even a week; it’s more of a partial week which includes the weekend.  Leading up to that, there were lots and lots of discussions, and I will tell you, that I talked to Mr. Liebau of Hollywood Park, I talked to Mr. Charles of Santa Anita, and I tried to broker a compromise and I even said to them, “Look, what about you guys share it.  Take whatever is made from those disputed dates and how about split the profits and run them at one place or the other and try to find a way?”  And I think they will both confirm that we tried to do that.  That didn’t work out.  So then the Board was faced with this difficult discussion, and I believe the hearing on that subject alone probably went for two hours.  And during that, what was initially put forward by the Race Dates and Strategic Planning Committee was a calendar, a calendar like the one that I showed you.  And we then decided that rather than adopt what the Strategic Planning Committee had come up with, we modified it.  And we modified it, and I think it was Commissioner Harris—you added some dates—we kept trying to find a way to soften the blow to either, because no matter who lost out, they were going to run fewer dates than they had historically run.  In Santa Anita’s case, I don’t remember the numbers, but it was going to be the least they had run since 1981.  And in Hollywood Park’s case, it was the least for them too.  I mean, it was just a bad situation.  And it came down to each of the Board members making a decision as what they deemed to be the best decision.  Was it the right decision?  I don’t think there was a right or wrong; it was a decision based on the circumstances.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me go to Senator Vincent and then Senator Yee and then I have some questions on this particular issue.  Senator Vincent

SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, you know, I keep talking to you, 
Mr. Shapiro, because we talked several times.  A lot of the things that we talked about, we talked about Santa Anita and we talked about Hollywood Park, and it was clearly what Santa Anita and Magna intended to….you talked about the barn area and they indicated to you, and this was all recorded, that they wanted to do something.  As a matter of fact, they said you were going to build ten barns.  Do you recall that?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, sir.

SENATOR VINCENT:  They didn’t build them though, did they?

MR. SHAPIRO:  What they said, Senator, was, and I think that if you look, and you have obviously looked at the transcript…

SENATOR VINCENT:  I’ve got the transcript.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Right.  I think what we said to them was that if they don’t install a synthetic track and commence building their barns next year, meaning next year, by the end of this year, that I know that I said I would favor giving the dates to Hollywood Park.  But because they had not had the time to put in a synthetic track, to comply with the Board’s mandate, nor did they have until the end of this year to start work on their barns, but what I was saying was that if you don’t do that I personally would be inclined to give dates to Hollywood Park and away from Santa Anita.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Let me refresh your memory.  Here’s what you said, although now we’re talking to Hollywood Park and we’re talking about the situation at Bay Meadows and that’s something else.  We’re getting into that too.  And the latter, you said the following:  “We were told very clearly that Santa Anita and Magna intended to rebuild these ten barns and I believe that I, and other members of the Board, even made statements in the effect that if the work had not been commenced by the end of 2007, I personally would be inclined to have awarded the “swing week” to Santa Anita but rather to Hollywood Park.”  But Santa Anita still got the “swing week”.
MR. HARRIS:  At that point we were talking about the ’07 dates, but he’s talking about something that was going happen in ’07.
MR. SHAPIRO:  And I’m confirming exactly those remarks to you today.  I’m saying the same thing.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, you know, there’s a lot of things we can say about the situation and there’s a lot of things involved.  And I think she indicated why the crowds are small.  Not only the crowds are small, the fields are small.  I mean, _______number of horses in a race.  The people are leaving here and going to other places.  Why should they run their horse for a $100 here when they can run them for $5,000 somewhere else?  That’s what they’re doing.  

And another thing, too, now, Hollywood Park did put in the poly-track, didn’t they?  They did put that in.

MR. HARRIS:  The Cushion Track.

SENATOR VINCENT:  The Cushion Track they put in there.  Well, I hope that as all of us who are so concerned about the horse racing situation would be fair and honest about it and tell it like it is; just tell the story like it is.  When was the last time you were on the back side of Hollywood Park?  

MR. SHAPIRO:  Last week.

SENATOR VINCENT:  The barns are pretty nice weren’t they?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, they are.

SENATOR VINCENT:  They built some new ones that’s why, before Santa Anita.  And you talked to Santa Anita a millennium ago and they still haven’t built them.  Hollywood Park is built.  But you know (we’ve got to talk a little bit more private), you know, we know what the deal with Hollywood Park is, and we need to straighten it out and move beyond that—move beyond that.

MR. SHAPIRO:  I agree with you.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Okay.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  Senator Vincent, where is Oak Tree?

SENATOR VINCENT:  Santa Anita.

MR. HARRIS:  It leases from Santa Anita.  It’s an association that leases the track from Santa Anita to run a race meet.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  Okay.  

SENATOR YEE:  Mr. Shapiro, let me go back to that whole issue of the dates between Santa Anita and Hollywood.  You know, as you know, a number of us, including the president, myself and a number of others, asked if you would, in fact, give those dates to Hollywood Park.  And I think that one of the reasons why we all supported that particular proposition was the fact that all of you had constantly talked about the importance of the poly-track.  And here you had a track that basically went out of their way and took that plunge at a cost.  And it seemed to me that one would then reward that particular behavior—that good behavior—and so I had a hard time understanding why, at the end of the day, that didn’t happen, so could you help me understand that?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, I can only help you with the extent to my vote, but as I said to you on Monday, from my perspective, the time had not elapsed to provide the opportunity for Santa Anita to comply.  And when I voted what I said was, that if Santa Anita does not comply next year, and if they do not commence their improvement of their barns, then I would give a reward to Hollywood Park.  I said it then, I have said it, I believe, at our last board meeting unrelated to dates, and I’m saying it again here.  It was just a difference, I think, we have between us as to the timing of that reward, or, stated the opposite way, the punishment if they don’t comply; if Santa Anita doesn’t do it.  But I felt that it was appropriate for my vote that everybody be given the opportunity and the time to comply before punishing them.  That was why.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you all.  Let’s go ahead and bring up the next panel.  Okay, and let’s, if we could, start with Mr. Fravel.  Let’s go ahead and begin.

Gentlemen, number one, thank you for being here today.  And I do have some general questions for the industry.  I’d like to hear from your perspective.  And maybe first and foremost what you may have heard as a group on synthetic track.  And then I’d like to get back to the synthetic track mandate issue of Mr. Liebau in terms of the Bay Meadows issue where we just left off.  But first in a general note, Mr. Fravel, maybe we can start with synthetic track and then proceed forward.

CRAIG FRAVEL:  Craig Fravel, Del Mar Thoroughbred Club.  Thank you, Senator, and thank you for the opportunity to have this hearing and to air these issues.  I don’t know how many of you know it, but I have been a long-term advocate ever since I was introduced to these synthetic tracks.  And you and I have had conversations in conjunction with your bill last year about the subject.  Because I was one of the original folks that was invited to go over to the United Kingdom and observe some of these tracks in action at Lingfield Race Course in the south of London, and the Newmarket training tracks outside of Cambridge in the U.K.  And I attended with some representatives of other race tracks, Martin Panza from Hollywood Park, Wilson Shirley representing the Thoroughbred Owners of California, and candidly watching these surfaces in action in the United Kingdom where they had been on these training surfaces at Newmarket for over ten years, at that point, and at Lingfield for at least two years.  This was in March of 2003, I believe.  
We were, to be honest with you, blown away by the performance.  And you asked questions earlier about, “Well, what were the negatives?”  And I spent several days talking to probably ten or fifteen trainers in the United Kingdom trying to find negatives about these race tracks.  And to be honest with you, and as any of us could tell you, it’s very easy to get negative things out of trainers when you look for them, and it’s even easier to get negative things out of trainers when you don’t look for them.  So the fact that we got unanimous and positive responses from trainers, including several who have trained in the United States, one former assistant to ________ Lucas, a hall of fame trainer who has left California now, as well as Jeremy Nocita who used to train at Santa Anita, we were simply blown away by these.  And we arranged some follow-up trips by other race tracks; Chris McCarren, then general manager of Santa Anita, Dr. Sue Stover, who is in the equine orthopedic laboratory at UC Davis to continue the inquiries.  And candidly, ever since that visit in March of 2003, we’ve been working to find a way to install these race tracks.  And to sum up on sort of a personal note, I can tell you, Del Mar is a very high profile meet; a very successful one, but it garners a lot of attention on the national scene.
And last summer we had eighteen catastrophic injuries at Del Mar; about eight or nine of them in the first two weeks of the race meet.  The only positive thing we had to say about that was that we were working diligently towards installing one of these surfaces.  And I was enormously grateful that at that time we actually did have something to offer as an alternative to our existing racing surface.  And anyone here can tell you, it’s not all racing surfaces.  There are many, many factors that go into equine injuries.  And I would also remind you that every time a race horse goes down, a jockey goes down with them, so, those are totally interrelated.  

And we were just so enthusiastic about these surfaces and we were very supportive of the Racing Board’s mandate.  And I will tell you why we were in favor of a mandate; because veterinarians will tell you that one of the things that is difficult for horses is making the transition from one type of surface to another.  They also tell you that catastrophic injuries are typically a result of accumulative stress on the horses.  They start with microfractures and they turn into catastrophic injuries.  And so the possibility that Hollywood Park would have a racing surface that before Del Mar ran and then transition to Oak Tree in the fall on a similar surface was, in our view, an important thing for the success of the adventure.  You know, Hollywood Park historically has had to deal with what you might call Santa Anita’s broken dishes and we’ve had to deal with Hollywood Park’s broken dishes and the Fairplex and Oak Tree in the fall and Santa Anita again in the winter.  So the concept was, I think our support of the mandate was that the ability of horses to train and race year-round on very similar surfaces would do nothing but good for these horses, and so, we were very supportive of it.  And I also thank you for your bill last year that helped us try to find some funding support for it, as well.

PETER TUNNEY:  Specifically to the racing surface….Hi, my name is Peter Tunney, representing Golden Gate Fields and Magna Entertainment Corporation.  We are in the process of finalizing approvals with the city of Albany to install an engineered surface track, synthetic surface, which is somewhat different than Del Mar, but they’re pretty much all the same and that’s called Tapeta footings.  And I’ll introduce Robert Hartman, who is the general manager of Golden Gate Fields and who can answer more specifics about where we are in that process.  But we plan to have it in for next year’s race.
ROBERT HARTMAN:  Thank you for having me here today.  Robert Hartman, Golden Gate Fields.  The process in Albany has been a difficult one.  There are two outspoken critics of the artificial surface installation; one from the Sierra Club and one from a group called CESP, which is Citizens for East Shore Parks.  They believe that there is irrefutable evidence that the surface will help horses.  The concern is that the city of Albany has not done enough homework to understand the process.  So we are currently working very closely with the city.  We have, since last year.  We’re hoping to get the surface installed this summer.  There is a very key time for us to get this surface installed.  If Bay Meadows does not race next year or the year after, we’ll lose a lot of barns over there, so it’s very critical that we get this surface installed.  And based on my five or six conversations with the city over the last few days, I’m still hopeful that will happen this year.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, great.  Mr. Charles.

RON CHARLES:  Ron Charles, NBC.  Just following up on what Craig had said about not this last meet but the meet before.  Santa Anita experienced just a horrific meet with regards to having horses having problems.  It was obvious that the traditional race tracks here in California, at a major track, just weren’t going to work.  They just weren’t safe.  And we began looking.  I can tell you, we went over to England numerous times—around the country.  I personally went to Australia twice, looking at different types of surface; not wax based but different polymar.
There is no question; the safety of this surface is paramount to this racing game.  We have done extensive testing.  Meeting with the trainers.  Just walk back to Jack’s place, Jack put in Cushion Track.  And I’ve got to tell you, it’s been one of the best things that’s happened to racing in California.  That track is so well received.  I walked back there five or six times prior to making the decision of which track we were going to choose and it was unanimous.  Every trainer back there, they weren’t so much convincing me about going to Cushion Track, what they were trying to convince me was, we needed a synthetic surface.  
And I know poly-tracks can be very happy that their name’s been mentioned over and over again because it’s kind of like saying “Kleenex,” but it is really a synthetic surface or an engineered surface.  We’ve decided to go with Cushion Track after a tremendous amount of due diligence and we’re very sure we’re doing the right thing.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, great.  

SHERWOOD CHILLINGWORTH:  Sherwood Chillingworth, Oak Tree Racing Association.  We lease the track from Santa Anita for approximately a month every year.  And all of our profits go to charitable sources, so none of the members who run the race track or the board directors receive any compensation.  

We think it’s absolutely imperative that we end up with engineered surfaces throughout California and, I think, throughout the country.  And I’ve never heard anybody say that it doesn’t eliminate some of the injuries.  I mean, Lindberg flew across the Atlantic and then we had the SSTs.  Well, we’re working our way up.  I mean, it may not be perfect today, there may be some little problems here or there, but you have to begin somewhere.  And this engineered surface is so superior to the present dirt tracks we have that it saves hundreds of horses a year, and we may not have the ultimate result we want but we will.  We’re working towards it.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Mr. Liebau.

JACK LIEBAU:  Jack Liebau from Hollywood Park and Bay Meadows.  Hollywood Park was purchased from Churchill Downs on September 23, 2005.  At that time it was announced that we would be putting in a synthetic track at Hollywood Park, and that was prior to, really, the consideration by the Horse Racing Board.  So I think that it has to be recognized that there are reasons for tracks to put in this surface other than just having a mandate from the California Horse Racing Board, because it was not necessary to have such a mandate in order for Hollywood Park to go ahead and do it. 
With respect to our existing situation at Bay Meadows, because there is somewhat common ownership between the two tracks, we did ask for a waiver with respect to the installation of a synthetic track at Bay Meadows.  At this point in time, I think that it would be appropriate for the Horse Racing Board not only to grant us a waiver, and I was pleased to hear Chairman Shapiro’s comment about the receptiveness of at least his vote as far as the one-year waiver was concerned, which we very much appreciate.  I do think that the rule should probably be either suspended or repealed at this point in time.  If you want, I would go into why I think that and if not, we can just move onto something else.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, sure, now that you’ve won, tell us why the rest of the industry shouldn’t have….nobody else has said that they want one.

MR. LIEBAU:  I don’t know whether it’s necessary to point out why it should be suspended or repealed if they’re going to grant the waiver. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think it’s because no one else is asking for an exemption.

MR. LIEBAU:  There may be somebody else asking for an exemption.  I think that if Mr. Hartman is unsuccessful in securing a permit from the city of Albany that he, too, would be asking for a wavier.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So then the Board would decide on that; are you adverse to that?

MR. HARTMAN:  You know, we’re still hopeful that we’re going to get the track in, yes.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  What is your argument with the city of Albany?

MR. HARTMAN:  The city of Albany is very…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are you telling the city of Albany that you need to put a synthetic track in?

MR. HARTMAN:  Yes, we are.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So the signal of clearing you from that requirement would be a positive for the city of Albany or would they say, “Great, you don’t have to do it?”  Does that help your argument or hurt it?

MR. HARTMANT:  It hurts it and helps it at the same time.  And the city of Albany is being very, very careful.  There are environmental groups that are putting a lot of pressure on them as compared to other race traces, like Hollywood Park, who did not have to go through the extensive testing we had to go through.  We have counsel working on this, hydrologists working on this, structural engineers, toxicity specialists, and then the city is peer reviewing every report that we have with their own specialists.  They’ve hired outside counsel.  They’re afraid they may get sued by some of these environmental groups.  So it takes some pressure off the city if we do get an exemption, but they also understand that the saving of lives. 
During my first year at Golden Gate Fields, we had two terrible accidents; one where the jockey, Sonny Ho, who has a child, who will never know her father.  I mean, he’s living, but he’s not right.  We have another one with Chance Rollens, who’s still not riding and I don’t know if he’ll ever ride again.  And, you know, those things, as a general manager of a race track, are very difficult to deal with.  And I think the city understands that part of it as well.  They understand how this will save lives.  And they’re inclined to help us.

One thing that we haven’t talked about is a water savings, as well.  We estimate we may save up to 20 million gallons of water a year.  And just given the drought that’s faced by northern California right now, East Bay MUD has agreed that this could be a wonderful thing for the environment as well.  So, I think it takes some pressure off the city if we get an exemption, but I think they feel that the synthetic surface is the right thing to do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That’s a very good….I’m not sure where you stand but that’s a good answer.  So you want the synthetic track.

MR. HARTMAN:  There’s no question about this—synthetic track is the way to go, absolutely.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The likelihood of you asking for a waiver is slim?

MR. HARTMAN:  I wouldn’t say slim, I would say we’re probably…

MR. LIEBAU:  We’re hoping not to have to go there.  We need a Senator Yee in our district.  

MR. HARTMAN:  But please don’t tell the Senate pro Tem that we’ve said that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  He’s listening, don’t worry.  

SENATOR YEE:  I think that what Mr. Tunney is planning to do is to…he’s going to be the therapist for myself and some other individual.  We’ll make that happen.

MR. LIEBAU:  We have mutual friends in Albany.

SENATOR FLOREZ:   There we go.  All right.

SENATOR WYLAND:  Mr. Chairman?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Wyland has a question but before, if I could, just ask Mr. Liebau, so I can get some closure on this.  I guess, as you’ve mentioned, the one year exemption for your particular track, and not speaking for the other tracks, on a policy basis is acceptable to you?


MR. LIEBAU:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And then does that mean that you race for the entire year also?  Does that go with that or is this a separate and decoupled?


MR. LIEBAU:  No, we certainly realize that the industry, as a whole, and especially the people in northern California, have to have a degree of certainty as to what is going to happen.  So, in connection with the allocation of the dates, if and when they’re allocated, we realize that we’re going to have to make a commitment with respect to the dates that are allocated to us.  I mean, we can’t say carte blanche….I mean, if we get ten days in December, it just doesn’t make sense.  We would prefer to run as early as possible in the year.  We certainly realize that we have a moral obligation to the San Mateo County Fair that has historically run in the latter part of August.  We do not have yet a contractual relationship with them with respect to 2008, but we certainly aren’t going to do anything to jeopardize the allocation of dates to the San Mateo County Fair.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Senator Wyland.


SENATOR WYLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I had a couple of questions.  It seems to me, from just the data that I’ve looked at, that there is a higher incidence, a rising incidence, of injuries that have led you to adopt the synthetic tracks.  To what do you attribute, if that’s correct, a higher incidence, markedly higher, and I know that’s certainly clear what Mr. Fravel said at the outset, because I know locally when there were all those incidents early on, there was a lot of local coverage of that and a lot of alarm, but what’s going on there?  What are the equine specialists saying?

MR. FRAVEL:  Well, since Senator Wyland represents my district I’ll answer that question, if you don’t mind.  We can have a series of hearings for weeks on end to discuss the reasons for that.  I think it’s….you can boil it down to some relatively simple issues.  It’s the population of horses available to race in California.  Because of the economics of the game has been diminishing over the last twenty years or perhaps more, and as a result the existing animal population is under much greater stress.  I mean, race tracks put pressure on trainers to enter races to increase our field size.  We’re trying to put on as good a show for the patrons as we can.  There are longer term issues related to breeding and the effects of medication on the quality of horses.  All those things factor in, and California has had a reputation, deserved or not, that its tracks are too hard.  Now, we’ve done a lot of research and testing and all that and we don’t believe that historically that was true.  But one thing we can tell you, at least based on the data we have so far, is that any of these synthetic tracks is better than the ones we’ve got coming up.  
And it goes back to, I think, Senator Florez’ original statement in this hearing, is that what we need to do in this industry is move forward to solutions that improve the economics of the game because we are now faced by slots enhanced purses in Pennsylvania, New York will soon have VLT enhanced purses, a number of other states that are going to make the economics that much more attractive to those trainers and owners.  And without some similar work on our end, we’re going to continue to have even greater stresses on the existing horse population.


MR. CHARLES:  I believe strongly that this issue has come to the forefront and we are doing a much better job of policing it.  Five or ten years ago I don’t remember this being scrutinized like it is right now and especially with the current CHRB Board.  They’ve hired Rick Arthur.  He has a list of every horse that breaks down, every horse that’s injured.  This is what we need.  We need to stay on top of the game.  We kind of closed our eyes in the past.  And as someone, that when I walked into management two and a half years ago at Santa Anita, it was shocking to me to see how many horses not only were injured, but euthanized.  And it’s keeping a better track.  No one—no one in the country keeps better statistics on horses that are injured or horses that are euthanized than California.

SENATOR WYLAND:  I can understand that there may be, even though I’m not sure what they are, but I can understand that there could be breeding issues and medication issues, but what about the pressure to run?  Do we know, are horses running more now than they did?  Do we know that?  Do we know if a horse…


MR. CHARLES:  We do know and, I mean, you have the occasional one that is running more but I mean, I think most people would look at the horses today as being pampered.  Horses in the past would race thirty times a year.  And whether it’s the breeding, I don’t think anyone knows for sure.  But one thing we do know is, the horses are not lasting.  Our inventory is dwindling and it’s primarily because of unsafe racing surfaces.  We’ve been criticized in the past for them.  We have unsafe racing surfaces and that’s why we’re replacing it.

SENATOR WYLAND:  So would it be fair to conclude, then, that whatever the reason, and it’s not completely clear, the incidents, actual incidents, did increase but the synthetic surfaces clearly seem to make things better?


MR. CHARLES:  To a point of being unbelievable.  


SENATOR WYLAND:  Let me ask you this, and this was mentioned at one point and it may be moot now since the Board has agreed to allow the one year waiver, or, to take it up, let’s put it that way, why would that be an issue?  Someone mentioned, and I can’t recall who, that they thought that the transition from one surface to another was an issue.  In other words, why would you care if Bay Meadows didn’t put the track in?  And I think someone said that there was a concern that transition of a horse, it made it more likely to have an injury if it ran on the traditional dirt surface and then on the other.


MR. LIEBAU:  I think that it goes to being on a consistent surface and the consistency can vary from surface to surface.  And if a horse is running on a consistent surface, it can adapt to it as far as its gait is concerned.  I don’t know whether any of us here are equine specialists, as you said.  I mean, certainly the tracks are a factor in breakdowns, but as Craig referred to, I mean, we have genetics.  It’s very hard to explain why the average number of starts has steadily declined over the last twenty years for horses.  Jockey club statistics just cry out at you about that.  


SENATOR WYLAND:  Is that true in other states?


MR. LIEBAU:  No, those are nationwide that’s happening.


SENATOR WYLAND:  Did the incidents also increase nationwide?  Do we know that, of injuries?


MR. LIEBAU:  Now, stepping away from even any pretending as far as being an equine specialist, just a Liebau on horses, and I do own horses, and as I always say, they unfortunately are slow…. in any event, the economics have a lot to do with it.  I mean, in yesteryear when the cost of training a horse was less than it is now, there was more of an incentive to lay a horse out than there is now because it just at times becomes uneconomical, as Senator Wiggins pointed out, with respect to the purse structure.  
I mean, what needs to be done is the business of racing needs to be fixed and it goes to a whole bunch of these problems.  It’s at the track level.  It’s at the owner’s level.  It’s just the business in general.  And why we probably have as many in-fighting as is going on between different segments or among different segments of the industry is that the business isn’t good at the moment.  And I think as Senator Florez pointed out, what we’re all trying to do is figure out how to fix the business and if we fix the business we’re going to have a lot less problems than we have now.

SENATOR WYLAND:  I think each of us on this committee, and many of us, understand that and would like to do what we can to help the industry.  

I just have one last question and I want to make sure I understand this:  In Albany, the Sierra Club….and you’re going to save a lot of water if you put that surface in….the Sierra Club has concerns.  First, we have the Coastal Commission having to approve, apparently, what Del Mar did.  And in Albany, the Sierra Club actually is weighing in and is that because they want to make sure there’s full environmental reviews?  Frankly, I’m struck by why they would be involved at all and if they are, I would think they would love it because of the conservation.


MR. HARTMAN:  There is one person who claims he represents the thoughts of the Sierra Club that wishes Golden Gate Fields to become a park.  So, anything that this one person can do to shutdown our racing operations would further his dream of having park land there.  So, I think it’s more of a personal issue with that individual in hopes that the delay would leverage us to maybe do other things.


SENATOR WYLAND:  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Wiggins.


SENATOR WIGGINS:  I have a question.  Could we consider issues like stabling and training in race states in northern California without clarity on Bay Meadows?  

MR. HARTMAN:  I think that’s a very important issue.  There’s definitely a symbiotic relationship that goes on between the race tracks.  Bay Meadows depends on Golden Gates Fields’ stable area, which is over double the size of theirs, and we depend on Bay Meadows stable area as well.  
One of the concerns that we have for 2008 race dates is, if Bay Meadows only decides to run half the year, we would hope for the good of the industry they would keep their barn area open to support the rest of the circuit for the entire year.  So that is one of our concerns; if their barn area goes away we’re in a lot of trouble because of that symbiotic relationship.


MR. CHARLES:  And that really is an important question, because we had a race dates meeting this morning, and it’s still unfortunate, we still cannot get Bay Meadows to agree to commit to race until the end of the year of 2008—next year—or stay open until the end of the year of 2008.  So it’s difficult for us to put together a calendar and for the industry to move forward when we don’t have, at least, a commitment to race, at least, until next year.  


Just to get back to one last point, because you had mentioned about the year waiver that apparently now is going to take place, I mean, hindsight is 20/20.  I think if Mr. Liebau would have walked in a few months ago and asked for a one-year waiver, he would have received it.  He asked for a two-year waiver, never once asking for a one-year waiver.  And a two-year waiver without a commitment to race left our industry up in the air.  We had no idea what we were going to be doing in one year, let alone two years.  And the concerns we have were voiced this morning by the rest of the groups and the fairs trying to establish a calendar in the morning for 2008.  What we really need is to understand exactly how long and when Bay Meadows plans to race so that the rest of the industry can program and map out its future.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let’s turn to that, if we could, because I think maybe that’s at the heart of one of the questions.  Mr. Liebau, in terms of the race dates, how they should be allocated, give us a perspective on how should the race dates be allocated from your vantage point?


MR. LIEBAU:  Well, in northern California there are some things that are a given.  I mean, we talked about Santa Anita starting on December 26th and that has sort of been edged in stone, although a former chairman of this committee, Senator Maddy, always said, “You know, December 26th belongs to the State of California and not to Dr. Strube(?).”  But be that as it may, that’s the way it is.  

We have always….we’ve gotten the fairs in a certain block in the summer and there are so many weeks there and that has been somewhat questioned by the Horse Racing Board this year.  And as has been said, they’ve made some changes in the basic calendar and they were going to look and see what those results were.  As far as the other dates between Bay Meadows and Golden Gate are concerned, that over the years we have tried to divide them up on a basis that was equitable to both, and the criteria has been handle or commissions because no handle is the same.  We would also hope to do that again.  As I said, we would prefer to run as early as possible.  We’ve tried to work that out with Golden Gate to see that it comes out to everybody’s advantage.

The issue has come up about the barn area.  And I can tell you that there have been some negotiations in the not too distant past between our company and MEC and there was language developed as to what conditions would be that we would keep our barn area open.  I would assume that that language is still operative.  And it more or less says that as long as it’s safe for the horses and construction or whatever didn’t make it impossible, that the barn area would remain open.  


So, we have an obligation to the industry and we’re going to do everything possible to meet that obligation and to make sure that in this year of transition, which is 2008 probably, that it’s going to be a smooth year and that there will be plans made in the event that Bay Meadows is not available in 2009.  And I say that because when I came to Bay Meadows in 1992, that was going to be its last year too.  So, you know, you never know…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So how do we plan with the quote “that you never know?”  How do you do that?  What’s the long-term?


MR. LIEBAU:  I think the long-term is that sooner or later that the Bay Meadows Race Track will be developed.  I don’t think there’s any question about that.  I’ve said that since 1992, that at some point in time…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And we’re back to the original question that, how do we…


MR. LIEBAU:  The underlying value of the property is going to require that it be put to a higher and better use.  And that goes to the problem of the business of racing; it’s just the way it is.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So, maybe you can answer the question, though, when do we know when that decision will be made?  I mean, I have a bill that talks about transitioning of fairgrounds to, if you will, in giving fairs the ability to bond and to really begin to become facilities in themselves in the event of a closure, so how do I explain that bill?


MR. LIEBAU:  I think that the ultimate decision is closer than it ever has been.  With respect to Bay Meadows itself, we are, sort of….I shouldn’t say, we, because I’m a race track operator, not involved in the real estate.  But real estate is in the last throes of the planning commission at the city of San Mateo level with respect to design review.  There is a litigation case where the citizens of San Mateo, some of them who did not have the adequate number of signatures to bring it to a citywide vote, have taken that case to the trial court and the trial court has upheld the city in that there was inadequate….that case is on appeal and should be coming down again in January.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So, Senator Yee was pretty pointed with Chairman Shapiro about his displeasure of losing 500 jobs, so in a year from now is he to be as displeased with you because you’re closing and we lose 500 jobs?


MR. LIEBAU:  I would hope that because of the communication and the planning that would go on, that he would not be.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you’re finding 500 jobs for folks?


MR. LIEBAU:  Well, we are in the process of starting a process about retraining people.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What does that program look like?


MR. LIEBAU:  That program is being run by the Labor Council in San Mateo County.  It’s being financed by the owners of Bay Meadows.  And there have been meetings that have taken place already and are continuing to take place.  They’ve gone through and tried to identify those people who would be in need of retraining and what the retraining would be.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  When you say, “tried to identify,” what does that mean?


MR. LIEBAU:  What we have done is that we have given them the list of our permanent employees and that has been by job title.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Has that caused some anxiety given that you’ve identified them and said, “We’re going to be closing?”


MR. LIEBAU:  I think that the people at Bay Meadows have realized what’s going on.  We have always had employee meetings to keep them advised of this.  And so, the process is moving ahead.  And I think that when the time is right we will have made all the things that have to be done.  Also, the county of San Mateo, as far as the Cal Expo Center, we’ve now started to work with them as far as equipping and designing a facility for them in their existing buildings and they have indicated to us that they are interested in having a lot of our employees move over there to work for them.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And when you say “a lot,” what percentages of the 500 lost jobs are going to move over?

MR. LIEBAU:  I really don’t have a percentage for you.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Less than 10 percent?


MR. LIEBAU:  No, I would say that it would be more than 
10 percent and some will probably move with the horses, which is going to cause a certain amount of movement.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In your mind, what is success then?


MR. LIEBAU:  What is success?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  What’s success—500 jobs?  What’s the success rate?  Less than 10 is probably going to be more than 
10 percent, so what’s success?  The Legislature is concerned with jobs—you hit it right on the head.  Whether it’s the Board forcing you to close and losing jobs, or whether you make your own decision to leave and lose jobs, at the end of the day there are jobs lost, so the question is, what’s success?


MR. LIEBAU:  I don’t really have a definitive answer for that, but I can say that we are doing everything that we can possibly do to train these people and to get them employed, and that is something that is in our mind and we realize it’s our obligation and we intend to fulfill it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Yes, Senator Yee.


SENATOR YEE:  Mr. Chair, if I can make a comment both in regard to Bay Meadows and Golden Gate Fields:  I think that you’ve heard rather persuasive testimony about how these two tracks, in fact, are struggling and that I think it’s incumbent upon us and also the Board that they take due consideration of the difficulty that they’re in.  These two entities are clearly interested in racing.  They are interested in pursuing that particular history and preserving that.  And their local jurisdictions are under some tremendous pressure to do things that we may not like.  And I think we need to understand that and be supportive of them.  That’s one of the reasons why I think in the earlier, when we had Mr. Shapiro here, I asked if, in fact, you’ve given some consideration to the fairs because of their economic stream, that given that consideration, why not expand that to looking at some of these other tracks and looking at which ones need a little bit more help that we would give that kind consideration?  


With regard to Bay Meadows, there are times when I will agree with Bay Meadows and there are times when I will not.  And I’m committed to doing what I can to preserving that particular track.  And I know that is sometimes….that is a cross ____ with those folks in Bay Meadows and whatnot.  But it is my fervent hope that we keep Bay Meadows around forever to the extent that they can.  I’m going to do what I can to try and extend that life, and those are the things that I’ve been trying to do.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  If the Board were to give you a two-year extension would you stick around another year?  If we’re so interested in keeping you open…


MR. LIEBAU:  That kind of decision is made at a much higher pay scale than mine.  And as far as…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s an internal rate of return decision.


MR. LIEBAU:  Yeah, and as far as what Senator Yee said about keeping Bay Meadows around for as long as possible, I can only assure you that that’s the hope of everybody that works at Bay Meadows.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  But it’s also a policy question that we are debating here—whether or not actions such as not giving you an exemption and maybe going further beyond that; going two years, three years, maybe it’s a permanent exemption as long as it matches the commitment to be here.  I mean, that obviously, for us, to keep you open, if that keeps you open, I mean, we’re excited about that.  Maybe there’s something we can do before that.

MR. LIEBAU:  I think the one thing that was said when Hollywood Park was purchased was that the ownership would keep it open for, and I must say, I want to stress the word of “minimum” of three years.  And that during that period of time the ownership would do everything that it could possibly do to improve the business.  And that goes still for Bay Meadows.  I mean, if we could fix the business and secure a return commensurate with the value of the property, believe me, Jack Liebau and everyone employed at Bay Meadows would be very happy.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  When you made the three year commitment at Hollywood Park did you know how things were going to go?


MR. LIEBAU:  No, because they haven’t gone the way we thought they would go, in that I don’t think the efforts the ownership has made has....we were certainly more optimistic of being able to fix the business than it’s turned out over the last couple of years.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask, should there be a Christmas break in racing?


MR. TUNNEY:  Well, there is to a certain degree.  There is a break around the 15th of December and it comes back the day after Christmas.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s a good thing?


MR. CHARLES:  Yes, absolutely, and the longer the better.  I think the racing fans, the horsemen, everyone agrees that a break at that time of the year is the right thing and then beginning the day after Christmas, the excitement is there for racing.


MR. CHILLINGWORTH:  I think one of the things that’s important for Santa Anita, and Ron didn’t bring it up, is that you have the Rose Bowl tourists coming to Pasadena at that time of the year and it’s a very good time of the year for the race track to be open—December 26th through New Year’s Day.


If I could bring up one other thing:  I neglected to do this earlier and I’m sorry about that.  Talking about the value of the artificial surface, Oak Tree is going to host the 2008 Breeders Cup.  In Chantilly, Oise, which is the main training center of France, they have an artificial surface.  In Newmarket, which is the main training center in England, they have an artificial surface, and otherwise, they run on grass tracks.  We were told by the people that run Breeders Cup that we will get twice as many horses from Europe in 2008 than we did when we ran in 2003 because of the artificial surface.  Because the perception that an artificial surface is better than our typical dirt surface is bringing a lot more people here because their horse won’t be injured.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. LIEBAU:  Just one thought, at one point in my prior life I, too, was associated with Santa Anita and I can say at that time that I was very much in favor of a Christmas break as long as possible because it’s wonderful to open after a long break.  But it comes down to every year when we start talking about the Christmas break, how many dates are available—there are less dates available and it just….so, yes, we should have some Christmas break but we have to realize that, there again, there’s less racing days for everybody else.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  It’s a zero sum game?  Mr. Fravel, you’re not willing to give any of your prime dates up are you?


MR. FRAVEL:  Well, I was about to say, when you only run in the summer it’s pretty easy to talk about Christmas breaks because everybody else suffers from them.  So, of course we’re in favor a Christmas break.  But let me say more candidly, it goes back to the economics issue.  I don’t think there’s anybody around this table, including Hollywood Park who runs in the fall, that wouldn’t be a lot more kindly disposed towards Christmas breaks or other kind of breaks if we could improve the economics of the game like we’ve been talking about.  Their real dilemma is, and, I mean, you guys have been in the midst of all our squabbles, as we call them, family squabbles or whatever, but when times are tough, that’s when people fight with each other.  And, you know, this is symptomatic of tough times and that’s really where we are.  And that’s why we keep coming to this Legislature, like on Monday, and trying to talk to all of you and asking you to work with us to try and find a way to improve the economics and that’s really one thing we all do agree on constantly.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  As long as it’s not getting to any particular one of your race dates, though, right?  So we wouldn’t move Labor Day and give Hollywood Park and move things around, throw it in a hat.  I mean, you’re stuck with where you’re at; and you like where you’re at; and no one moves from where they’re at; so therefore, the Board is asked to deal around the edges and when the edges don’t match up we’re going to find ourselves here.  Based on a calendar and according to me, six and a half years from now, again we hit the same bump.


MR. FRAVEL:  I can’t speak for anybody else, but I do think everybody would be willing to take a much more creative look at the racing calendar if we were getting the kind of revenues that Delaware Park, for example, gets from slot machines.  I think, I don’t know if Santa Anita would give up weeks because they’re really into running everyday, but I think even Jack would give up some dates very willingly if he had the kind of economics that were provided…


MR. LIEBAU:  Not really.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s a good point.  Let’s leave it at that.


MR. TUNNEY:  So, Senator, before you kick us out, I want to go back to Senator Vincent’s and Senator Yee’s comments earlier:  I think everybody at this table, and we thank your committee, let’s just get back to the business of horse racing, the thing we do best.  And all the participants in this room are part of that as well.  So we thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Vincent.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Before this panel leaves, you see this book here?  This book, this thing, has a lot about horse racing in it.  I gave it to every member of this Legislature.  And what it talks about is records, times and everything else.  But I want to just remind you of this about thoroughbred racing, out of the twelve world records in horse racing, nine of them are on California tracks—nine of them.  
Now, we know why the tracks are going down; let’s face it.  I’ve never seen an Indian play a slot machine and I’ve never seen an Indian shoot crap.  It’s not a class-3 thing.  We know what the problem is.  Now, we tried to do that some time ago but I think the mistake we made, instead giving slot machines to the race tracks, we tried to give them….I shouldn’t say “we” because I wasn’t involved in that….but they tried to give them to some of the clubs.  And the Indians must have spent about $50 million to stop that—to stop that.  We’ve got some ideas, but I just want to say that….and amazing, some of the people that I talked to years ago are on this list and we discussed this thing.  As a matter of fact, the first man on the list, the same guy—the first man on this list ____________.  
So what I’m saying is, we’ve got a grave situation here.  We’ve got the best horses; we’ve got the best jockeys; we’ve got the best weather; we’ve got Hollywood, we’ve got everything here but some sense—everything.

MR. CHARLES:  And we also have the best management.


MR. FRAVEL:  You forgot Santa Anita, Senator.  We love your passion, I can tell you that.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Well, let me tell you, of those nine world records that are on twelve tracks, Santa Anita is mentioned quite a few times in there and so is Hollywood Park.


MR. FRAVEL:  Absolutely.

SENATOR VINCENT:  And I’ll say another thing:  Somebody has been saying they’ve been to Germany, been to Japan, they’ve been to Italy and they’ve been to Scandinavia and they’ve been to Brooklyn and England, well, I’ve been to quite a few places too.  But let me tell you this—let met tell you this—I don’t care where you go in California, don’t care where you go in the United States, I don’t care where you go in the world, you’re not going to find any better race tracks than Hollywood Park, Santa Anita and Del Mar—you’re not going to find it nowhere in the world.  We’ve got everything going here and we’re about to blow it.  It’s ridiculous.  Good bye.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Those on the next panel are welcome to come up.  All right, gentlemen, to move this along.  I don’t think I’m going to ask the same questions and, of course, the members may have specific questions, but of what you’ve heard, maybe you can give us your perspectives and then we’ll move on to the next panel.  This would be your open opportunity without the questions unless the committee has questions, so give us your thoughts on what you’ve heard so far.  And if you could just identify yourself for the record.

CHRISTOPHER KORBY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members.  Chris Korby, California Authority of Racing Fairs.  And before I proceed, I’d like to note that Mr. Barkett, who was scheduled to speak, had to leave for a fair board meeting so he was unable to be here and Mr. Rick Pickering from Alameda County Fair has consented to come in his absence.

I would just like to briefly touch on three important themes that the Chairman identified in your opening remarks.  And those are:  A clear vision of where we’re going, certainty, to which I would add stability for our industry, and a tipping point.  We think the industry is at a tipping point but maybe from a slightly different perspective from what other people bring to the equation.  We think that the increasing real estate values underlying the property at which race tracks are located will create an economic incentive for those tracks to be developed.  And we think that the long-term future of horse racing in California will be at publicly owned facilities on fairgrounds.  There’s a California homegrown model that works to demonstrate that, that’s Del Mar.  We think that a similar model will emerge over time, and we fairs want to be ready for that and have our facilities up to snuff in order to accommodate it.  And we’re here to ask your help to get us there, because we think that the long-term success of racing is going to be based on such a model.

I know, Senator, you referenced several times the bill that you have in.  We supported that.  We’d love to see that bill come back because we think that’s a stepping stone to the future.  We have another bill in right now that would allow us to generate additional revenues from handle at racing just at fairs.  So we’re taking active measures to put ourselves in a position to be part of that future.  

And I’ll conclude my remarks with that.  And once again, we need your help to get there.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  Any other comments from any of the members?

CLIFF GOODRICH:  Cliff Goodrich representing Fairplex.  And 
Mr. Chairman and committee members, I’d like to focus really on the main focus today and that is synthetic tracks and long-term racing dates with an eye towards solutions that the Chairman suggested.

First of all, while I’m not an expert, I would ask any expert to refute this statement and that is in regard to artificial racing surfaces.  The mandate of the California Horse Racing Board has been the greatest mandate for the safety of horse and rider in the history of thoroughbred racing—the greatest safety measure in the history of thoroughbred racing.  

The leadership shown by Chairman Shapiro, Vice-Chairman Harris and the entire Board has been viewed by the whole country, and other jurisdictions are following the lead of the Horse Racing Board and that’s the way it ought to be.  California ought to be in the lead; they have historically, and I think this Board has maintained that.  


So as far as solutions, I urge this committee or any legislator to give full support to the Board in demanding, wherever economically feasible, that tracks install these artificial racing surfaces.  We do have an economic problem.  We have a lot of fairs that race two weeks.  I represent Fairplex; they represent three.  If they’re asked to put up 
$8 million, those fairs can’t exist—it’s simple.  So if the State wants to write a check, great, there will be artificial surfaces tomorrow.  That’s probably not going to happen, so I think you do the best you can and put them in as many locations as you can, and you keep working toward that so that eventually every track has those surfaces.

On racing….and I should say in the Bay Meadows situation, and it’s come up and I won’t take a lot of time, I think development around the corner, not the economics of Bay Meadows, drove their request for an exemption.  Bay Meadows wants to continue racing.  Jack Liebau, in October testimony, talked about safety of horse and rider being paramount.  When you’re an operator, and I have been, looking at another year or so to run, my goodness, you can’t spend $8 million no matter how much you care about the safety of the horse.  I think it looks like it’s going toward a one-year exemption.  I think as long as they can commit to all or most of that year it will happen and I think that’s a good resolution.


As far as racing dates, and it’s been touched on at Bay Meadows, not a lot has been said of down south where Fairplex is concerned….and the Chairman asked some very good questions.  What this industry needs for a solution?  And I hope it doesn’t come from the Legislature, I hope it comes from the leadership of the Board, is, we need certainty.  Right now, and Mr. Liebau said it, Hollywood Park is on record, I believe, that said they will race at least until September 23, 2008.  The word “at least” causes problems because that means there may be more.  And while we at Fairplex, and I think virtually everyone else in this room, would like to see Bay Meadows and Hollywood race forever and make this industry healthy, that’s probably not going to happen.  
Fairplex looks like it’s one of the locations of choice for a training facility if not additional racing dates.  That’s going to take $75- to 
$100 million.  We cannot possibly spend a dime until, a) we know they’re that facility of choice, and, b) when it’s going to begin.  Because if Hollywood Park announced tomorrow that September 23, 2008 will be the last day, Fairplex could not be ready, nor do I think Los Alamitos could be ready, to have a mile race track, a grass course, synthetic surfaces, all the approvals and the financing that goes with that.  So while, if I were Hollywood, they may be the only sane people in the group, because this is a tough business, all of us are committed, they, obviously, would like to tie racing, as long as they could, into their entitlement approvals to keep cash flow going.  That’s understandable.  Nobody should assault them for that.  But this industry needs a time certain when they will be finished.  I hope the Board demands it.  Once that is established, and I hope they say 2010 or 2015, whatever that is, that date needs to be established north and south so that the rest of the industry can get to the business of who’s going to pick up the slack.  That is vital if we’re going to make any profits.

SENATOR VINCENT:  I’d like to say, where did you get the data that Hollywood Park was going to close in ’08?

MR. GOODRICH:  I think, and Mr. Liebau is in the audience, it’s in the public record and he reiterated it at a committee meeting several months ago that I think the public statement is “race at least until September 2008.”  And it’s the “maybe more” that causes problems for the industry.  If it’s more, great, say it, but a lack of commitment paralyzes the rest of the industry.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Wiggins.


SENATOR WIGGINS:  Have we heard from Solano County Fair?


MR. GOODRICH:  The representative from Solano County Fair had to leave, Ma’am.  He had a fair board meeting this afternoon.  
Mr. Pickering is here from Alameda County Fair.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Anybody interested in listening to Alameda County Fair? (laughter)


MR. GOODRICH:  I am.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, let’s hear something.


RICK PICKERING:  Should Senate pro Tem Perata be listening, we appreciate that, as well as Senator Torlakson.


Rick Pickering, CEO, Alameda County Fairgrounds.  


Honorable Chairman and esteemed Senators, thank you for taking this up to your level.  Jobs are important in California.  Fairs have been about jobs for decades.  The Alameda County Fairgrounds, the race track there, started in 1858 and it’s the oldest one-mile race track in America, so a phenomenal history in horse racing and jobs.  
There is a differing standard for fairs than there are for the privately owned tracks.  State law limits the amount of fair racing in northern California to fourteen days at any fair in northern California.  So there definitely is a differing standard for the fairs in the north.  If the future of racing in northern California truly is at the fair on government owned property, then that’s a law that will have to be dealt with.  That’s probably the easiest law to deal with.  
Pleasanton is not only the oldest one-mile track in America, Pleasanton is also the only fair in northern California that trains thoroughbreds on a year-round basis, so it’s a major capital investment.  And we train horses year-round at a significant financial loss but we provide 15 percent of the starts to Bay Meadows and Golden Gate on an annual basis—a major contribution into the industry.

Fairs are probably one of the only publicly owned facilities that pay taxes in California.  And when I say that, my fair, when it runs horse racing, when it runs satellite wagering, pays a license fee to the State of California otherwise known as a differing type of taxes.  So the fairs that are owned by government are, in essence, paying a tax to government off of horse racing which comes out of purse money, comes out of the industry as a whole.

All profits at my fairgrounds and other fairgrounds from horse racing go back into the facilities.  The equity players are the people of the State of California.  Any excess revenue that’s generated from horse racing goes back into the fairgrounds, back into the racing product, goes back into local jobs and local employment centers.  Fairs are a major economic financial engine in their local community.  Senator Yee’s constituents have come forward and explained to him how important the fair is, how important racing is in that community.  Again, those jobs are local jobs at fairgrounds.  Fairgrounds pay taxes.  
The largest single investor in horse racing in California is the State of California.  The state not only owns the dates, the State owns at least seven race tracks in northern California, the State owns roughly twenty-three satellite wagering facilities.  Collectively, those facilities generate one quarter of all wagering in California on horse racing.  So, the State is the owner of the dates; the State is the major investor in the facilities; and the people of the State of California are the greatest benefactors.

For the future, I know Senator Wyland had to step out for a few moments; the Del Mar model truly is one of the most spectacular tracks in the world and certainly not in California, not to slight anyone in Hollywood Park or at Santa Anita, but that public/private model, we believe, is the future.  
Anyone looking to invest on government property needs certain commitments.  They need commitments of timeframes; they need commitments of race dates in order to serve as depth.  But the beauty of investing of government owned property, is you don’t have debt service on real estate.  As real estate continues to climb in California, which benefits everyone who owns real estate, it will hurt horse racing; it’s hurt it at Bay Meadows.  Fortunately, San Mateo real estate has escalated.  It may hurt it someday at Hollywood Park because the local community property values have escalated.  


So, clearly, the future, we’re here.  We as a local fair do not have the wherewithal to engage with the Senate and the Assembly in major policy debates.  We’re just out there.  Our fair opens in eleven days and we’d like to invite you all out to the horse racing meet in Pleasanton.  

The average daily handle at the Alameda County Fair, the average daily handle at the Santa Rosa Fair, is equal to Bay Meadows—a good day of racing at Bay Meadows and Golden Gate Fields.  That’s how significant those two race products are; it brings new people; it brings new players and even horses like Seabiscuit, got a start on the fairgrounds in Pleasanton.  So we’re here to help.  We’re standing in the background, but we’ve been here for over 150 years and we continue to train at a loss to support the industry.


And thank you for asking for comments from Alameda.  We appreciate that.  And we are a nonprofit.  We are not government.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Wiggins.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  I’m just curious; you said that the limit is fourteen days for any fair to race?


MR. PICKERING:  In northern California the limit is fourteen days.  In southern California for the L.A. County Fair, it’s roughly twenty-one days.


SENATOR WIGGINS:  Well, I’m just curious because, supposedly, Vallejo is not doing too well and they were going to give racing days to Sonoma County Fair.


MR. PICKERING:  Senator, there is an opportunity in current law that would allow for a combined or consolidated race meet between fairs.  So the Vallejo Fair and the Santa Rosa Fair, between each of them, they each have two weeks, so they’re doing a consolidated meet which would give them a total of four weeks.  They’re going to run the first week in Vallejo and the last three weeks in Santa Rosa.  But they’re doing that as two fairs on a cooperative venture.  And that may be another model into the future, for the fairs to run cooperative meets.


SENATOR WIGGINS:  I see.  Yes, because I don’t think the Vallejo track is going to make it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  No hearing yet set on that.  Senator Vincent.


SENATOR VINCENT:  I would just like to comment on what the gentleman said; I agree with him all the way.  And you mentioned Seabiscuit as you talked about the fairs.  But where this really started was from what happened at Bay Meadows; Seabiscuit ran at Bay Meadows also.


MR. PICKERING:  Yes, after training in Pleasanton; you are correct.


SENATOR VINCENT:  It doesn’t matter.  It’s all the same deal.  


MR. PICKERING:  In other words, it’s a partnership without a doubt.


SENATOR VINCENT:  The problem right now is at Bay Meadows.  


MR. PICKERING:  And the fairs would also like to, maybe, claim Jack Liebau in that he got initiated in horse racing at the Santa Rosa Fair and look at where he is today.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Wiggins.


SENATOR WIGGINS:  You know, the newspapers don’t cover the horses that race locally.  I mean, in Santa Rosa, when they have their races, they don’t cover the horses that win.  And that’s really an obstacle, I think, because people need to look at the horses and get excited.


MR. GOODRICH:  I would just comment, we couldn’t agree more.  And Senator Florez and a lot of you folks have been very supportive.  We need to find a way to significantly increase these purse levels so that there are horses people will want to see and numbers in races that people will want to bet on.  We need to double, in effect, at least double, purse levels, but there’s no magic bullet within horse racing to do that.  Unfortunately, as they found in other states, they need the State’s help through alternative gaming, through mitigation, through support legislatively, however it can be done.  
I’ve been in this business forty-two years, a decade from now I assure you it will not be here unless it’s helped.  And that’s sad for racing, but it’s sad for the 50,000 people or so employed in this industry.  And it’s a great contributor to the California economy.  We’re underappreciated; it’s our fault, not your fault, but through your good efforts, hopefully we’ll start to march toward more success.

MR. KORBY:  Senator Wiggins, if I might:  We’d love to invite you to come make a presentation in the winner’s circle at Santa Rosa and I’m sure the Press Democrat will be there.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, great.  Senator Vincent.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Now, this gentleman made a very good statement.  And if you look at it this way, I was born in Steubenville, Ohio.  And Steubenville, Ohio is on the Ohio River.  But they call it the Tri-State area because there’s Ohio, there’s Pennsylvania, and there’s West Virginia.  I went to the University of Iowa.  Now I’m going to show you the difference.  And Mountaineer Track in West Virginia was going out of business until they got slot machines.  Prairie Meadows in Iowa was going out of business until they got slot machines.  Wake up.


MR. GOODRICH:  You’re right on, but there’s a lot of factors in that ever happening.  And someday it will—someday it will and it needs to, but that’s for another day.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Gentlemen, thank you.  Let’s go to our last panel as we turn into our third hour and let’s have Ed Halpern, Rich Mandella, Howard Zucker, Tom Bachman, and Barry Broad.


Obviously, as with the last panel, get your opinions on synthetic track, the racing calendar date allocation process and just, kind of, roll there and if there’s questions by the committee we’ll ask.


ED HALPERN:  Thank you.  I’m Ed Halpern.  I’m the executive director and general counsel for the California Thoroughbred Trainers.  We represent all of the trainers in California and their workers.


I would just mention; we certainly have more than qualified people here to tell you about the value of synthetic tracks.  We have two of the most prominent trainers in California who are going to do that.  But I will tell you that they are important to us because of the safety and health of the horses and riders, because of the decrease in injuries, and the increase in field size that we’re seeing, which is vitally important to the industry. 


One point that probably hasn’t been made is because of the savings of millions, if not hundreds of millions, to owners in this state, and that is one issue that one has to consider when we keep talking about these extensions for Bay Meadows.  While we continue to run on a dirt track, we continue to lose all those horses, and for that money which Bay Meadows makes, owners lose many, many times that, also, an issue of savings to trainers and the industry in the workers’ comp costs and lesser injuries to the riders.  We keep talking about riders, that includes, I think, about a thousand or more exercise riders—we’re not just talking about jockeys here.  And as you’ll hear from the trainers, there’s unanimity of opinion of the value of these services. 


As to the Bay Meadows desire for an exemption, I know there’s been a lot of blame placed on the Horse Racing Board.  I would note to you that 80 percent of the horse racing industry supported that.  Our board of directors, who are elected by all the trainers, voted 7 – 1 to ask the CHRB to deny the exemption because they know the importance of these tracks.  In that vein, Bay Meadows needs to commit.  

We need time to convince people that they should put in these surfaces and they’ll see some return.  I have written to Jack Liebau and I’ve said, “The least you could do is tell the industry ‘we guarantee we will give you nine months or one year or whatever from the time we decide to quit’”.  That would solve a lot of our problems, but so far, they don’t even want to do that, or, they haven’t done that.


In a positive sense, I know you’re interested in how we reform the California Horse Racing Board and what can be done to improve racing in California.  I think we’re all in 100 percent agreement that the Horse Racing Board needs reforming and needs improvement.  
I’ve been involved in racing for thirty years and the Horse Racing Board has been sorely lacking in its ability to deal with medications to protect the public, to deal with stewards—the quality of stewards, to deal with legal advisors so that for once maybe they could win a case when it went to court.  The industry knows that if you violate a rule and you’re willing to take it far enough, you’re going to win the case because they don’t have the legal advice, and the attorney general has not provided sufficient help to them in prosecuting cases.  All these things are necessary.  And we needed a new medical advisor and got that.  
But the problem that I’m seeing is that this board, the current CHRB Board, is being blamed for those problems.  Those problems have existed for thirty years.  And the truth of the matter is, that it’s this board, under the chairmanship of Mr. Shapiro, who has been so unfairly attacked, that took on these matters head on and have made it a commitment and made it a fulltime job to correct all these problems that the CHRB has had and they are certainly the last ones who should be attacked.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  You ought to hang around the Legislature once in a while and see what an attack is.  This has been a very civil and very pointed questioning by Senator Yee.  I appreciate it, quite frankly, and I think it’s been a very healthy discussion.  So I mean, I think, ultimately, we appreciate the comments and we will weigh all the comments here with actions.  And at the end of the day, we will still be here for a bit.  And I know Mr. Yee will be here for eight years, so I think the foundation of everything we’re building here is something that Senator Yee, particularly, will look back on six, five, eight years from now and say, “I remember the hearing and this was said,” so I think that’s the importance of having these legislative hearings.


Let’s go on to the next witness.


TOM BACHMAN:  Tom Bachman, TOC board member, vice-chair, northern California.


I think I’ll start out with the synthetic surfaces.  And as I said years ago, perhaps the best place to put a synthetic surface is northern California.  The problem we have up here and the reason we need them so badly is we have a rainy season.  And the dirt tracks, Bay Meadows and Golden Gate Fields solved that problem by sealing their track.  In other words, they take a roller and tighten it so (knock, knock, knocks on the table) you run on that.  The water runs off on the slope and that’s their drainage.  If you put in a synthetic track, the water goes down through the surface into a sensitive French drain system and goes off and so you have a soft track even in the wintertime.  That is going to change the soundness of horses substantially.  The reason horses do so poorly in northern California is because they train on a sealed track for probably six months a year and it jeopardizes their soundness.  


The fairs on the other hand, only race in the summertime, therefore, they have a true dirt track.  There’s not sand mixed in so that they can seal it; those are very forgiving tracks.  Santa Rosa has one of the best surfaces in the State in the months that they run but they can have that only because the track is open during the summertime and they don’t have to worry about the wintertime.  So, the fairs up north, it won’t be as important for them to put in a synthetic track as long as they just race in the summertime.


As far as the dates go, we have struggled, we have had meetings, we have had two-day symposiums.  We all work out the dates in northern California; everybody is, kind of, understanding.  The one hiccup in it is that we all realize we need less dates up here and everybody is going to have to give up some dates because, we’ve gone the four-day weeks in January and February simply because we couldn’t fill races.  We went to a five-day week just a month ago—we couldn’t pull enough horses together to run a six-day week on a holiday week.  So, the horse population is going to drive us to race lesser days, or, as the fairs are going to find out this summer, they can’t fill an 8-race thoroughbred card.  They want to race six days, that’s fine; you’re going to have about five races—thoroughbreds—and then you’re going to mix up some other mules or whatever you can do to make a card to get people over from the carnival.  So, the horse population will drive us to fewer dates.


I couldn’t agree with anybody more than Cliff Goodrich—we need an end date at Bay Meadows.  So to Rick Pickering at Alameda County Fair, if they want to go invest, they can make the investment in making that track up to a major.  They can do the clubhouse, they can do a turf course, they can do synthetic track, but they can’t do any of it unless they know they’re going to get some more dates to service the debt.  At some point we have to go to Bay Meadows and say, “You know what, this is your end date.  If your construction schedule falls behind, that’s your problem.  It’s not the race horse industry’s problem.  If the market isn’t good for the housing you’re going to build, that’s your problem; it’s not our problem.”  At some point, we have to say, “This is the end of your racing at Bay Meadows and we all need to move on and go to future racing.”  And I hope that your panel understands that and I hope that everybody can see the wisdom in it.

Thank you.


SENATOR VINCENT:  While the Chair is gone, I’ll take the mike.  You know, we seem to get the wrong stuff going here.  Nobody is really getting on the Horse Racing Board because of what they wanted to happen.  Everybody, probably, in the horse racing business, thinks that the synthetic tracks was better for horses.  There’s no big deal about that.  What caused the problems, when they didn’t accept the way….they could have done it in a better way.  What we’re going through now, we don’t need any bumps in the road.  And when you talk about the tracks, I just indicated that twelve out of the world records, nine of them were on California tracks—nine of them.  So what I’m saying, we need to get together and quit arguing with each other and try to do what we can to maintain a business.  And one of the first things to maintain a business is, and I’m going to be honest with you, some of these tracks are going to have machines.  I’m talking about slot machines.  I just mentioned Mountaineer and Prairie Meadows.  I used to go to Prairie Meadows all the time.  It’s nowhere close to the tracks out here—nowhere close.  But we’ve got to work together as a team.  When you see a football team go into a huddle, the quarterback calls the play.  When they come out, they all run what he calls.  It’s a play to move the ball.  If they don’t move the ball, they’re going to have to punt.  Somebody else has got it.


MR. BACHMAN:  Well, if we’re going to have machines at the race tracks, I know who the new owner of the track is going to be.


SENATOR VINCENT:  No, it won’t either—no it won’t either.  Let me tell you something—let me tell you something—I’m going to tell you this real clearly.  ________ this statement.  If you want to use a statement about who, and you’re talking about the Indians, well, you know, the Indians got the tracks because there’s exclusivity because the fact they were Indians and they gave them a break and they gave them their slot machines.  Well, the slot machines are doing very well but the slot machines are hurting horse racing.  Let me say this, though, if you go into an Indian casino and see who’s playing the slots, I have never seen an Indian play slots.  I’ve never seen an Indian play blackjack.  I’ve never seen an Indian shoot crap.  Okay.  Never seen that.  But here’s the deal, sooner or later, things are going to change.  They might be late, but they’re going to change.  What do you think if they gave Hollywood Park slot machines?  What do think if they gave the Gardena clubs slot machines?  Let’s say, the Indians gave the State $5, if we gave slot machines to gambling joints, you give them $3,000.  So, what I’m saying, we’ve got a problem here because of the Bay Meadows situation.  If they had said, “Look, I tell you what Bay Meadows, we’re concerned,” and Bay Meadows thinks the poly-tracks are good too.  They think that.  But he just explained it.  But all the problems we’re having now, is everybody is going their own way and we’re losing out.  We’re asleep here and we’re going to wake up dead.  

SENATOR WIGGINS:  I’d like to hear from the rest of the panelists.


RICHARD MANDELLA:  I’m Richard Mandella, trainer in southern California.  Mr. Vincent is right on with his gambling.  You know, the other states are dwarfing their neighbors.  Maryland is going to go out of business because Delaware has gotten their slots in; New Mexico is killing Arizona; and Texas is struggling with their new program that they’ve put a lot of money into because New Mexico now has gambling at the tracks and creates larger purses.


I train for a couple of billionaires that are my biggest clients that asked me the question a week ago with Philadelphia and New York coming online with gambling, which state would I like to move to?  In other words, they may not want to send horses here anymore.  If the future goes like history, I’ll make those billionaires into millionaires and they’ll get more humble. (laughter)


But I’ll say this about synthetic surfaces; I’ll give you a direct example of how important they are.  California, and Ed talks about the world records, I think I have a horse that held one of those.  Granted, it means we had great horses, but we also had very hard, fast race tracks that were unsafe.  It’s been the history of California.  It’s been the main reason for the rejection of horses to come from the east to California.  It was the surfaces that we ran on.  
The introduction of synthetic surfaces is spreading to where people are interested in coming to California.  There’s a man named Saied(?) that’s one of the biggest spenders in the business that has talked to me for six months to try and get room for a major part of his stable.  I told him I didn’t have room.  He came to me again at the Kentucky Derby, I was there, and introduced himself again and said, “Please, we have six horses ready to come in two weeks, would you please make room for them?”  I said, “I can’t, my main clients are there and I don’t have room.”  My neighbor happened to have room and he took them the next week, which is fine.  But, people like that are coming because of the synthetic surfaces.  So, it needs to be taken very seriously.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  I have a question:  On the east coast it rains, so why are their tracks better than ours?


MR. MANDELLA:  It’s hard to say.  They keep them….I would say, a higher quality of sand than we have here for some reason in California.  And for some reason, the mentality in California is the faster the better, and to be fast, you have to be hard.  It’s always been an opposite situation east coast to west coast and why it never went the other way, I don’t know.  I can say one thing, we have drier, warmer weather and with the sand content of the eastern tracks, they dry out too fast here in California.  So we can’t make them quite the same as they make up in the east where they get the rain.

I don’t think that’s a good enough definition, but it’s the best I’ve got.


One more thing I’d like to say is, our Horse Racing Board, I think, has been invaluable to the industry.  Again, I’ll repeat what several people have said here—they inherited a great problem and things that have gone on prior to them, Mr. Shapiro took a very bold step when he stood up and demanded that synthetic surfaces be put in.  And when he did it, I came to some of the meetings and spoke for synthetic surfaces and read his statement about the law being passed that they’re going in.  And when I read it, I was set back and I thought, “Geez, that’s an awfully strong way to do that.”  But stepping back one more step, realizing I’m a horse trainer, if you ask any horse trainer what they think of a race track, you’ll get at least eight different answers out of ten.  But synthetic surfaces are the one thing that’s brought us together.  
Race tracks themselves are independently owned.  The cost of 
$8- to $10 million to put a race track in is enough deterrent on its own.  So I say that if he had not made the move he made, the first one probably would not have gotten put in and we’d still be talking about it.  So, I credit him for getting it done.


HOWARD ZUCKER:  I’m Howard Zucker.  I’m the vice-president of the California Thoroughbred Trainers and I’ve been the head of the Track Safety Committee for the last seven years.  Not to go over the ground that everybody else has gone over, I’d like to go back to some of the technical questions that the Chairman asked.  
One of the reasons that it seems like the horses get injured more often is that in the old days they used to resurface tracks completely and it got very expensive to move dirt; transportation costs make it prohibitive and it’s very hard to find the right kind of dirt.  And with the weather differences up north and also during the Santa Anita meet where we get a lot of rain, we’ve taken to amending the soil with sand, with organic, with clay, and it’s manmade dirt and it’s not the same as natural dirt.  Our organic tracks got worn out, basically—pulverized—maybe mismanaged, but in any case, more unsafe as the figures will bear out.  The breed may have been weakened by inbreeding or medications, but a safe race track is paramount. 

The statistics that are generated by the already in place polymer tracks are fantastic as attested by everyone else.  If 90 percent of the catastrophic injuries were eliminated at Turfway Park by simply replacing the race track with a polymer track, it also stands to reason that the old track was the cause of 90 percent of those injuries.  So by replacing these tracks, we are saving a large number of horses, a large amount of money. 


Our racing board, in the last three years, has dealt with three of the largest problems the industry has faced.  They’ve been so proactive and so strong.  My board has voted unanimously to put in those tracks and they also want to express their confidence in this board.  
Mr. Shapiro has been a fearless leader; Mr. Harris before him, in dealing with three of the major problems; the medication problem, our workman’s compensation problem, which you people have helped a lot with, and with our tracks.  
The problem that remains is the problem that Senator Vincent refers to.  I’m sure we’ve asked for slots enough.  I think we’ve asked for instant racing.  We’ve asked for any kind of help in our funding—license fee relief—anything that you people can do up here to help this industry move forward.  I think our racing board has moved us forward in three huge steps, but we’re at a point where the increase of other forms of gambling is making the pieces of the pie smaller and smaller and we keep trying to cut this pie up and there’s not a lot left.  
A lot of the dates problems, and even your executives were willing to give up dates if there was more money on the table for them.  Hollywood Park announced a possible closure.  What they said was, “We’re going to close in three years if we’re not granted an alternative form of gaming or some other income.”  Bay Meadows would stay open also, if they had a way to make money and make that property profitable.  So I think it’s incumbent on you folks to help us.  
Senator Yee, if you want to keep your race track open you need to go to the Governor and try to get us some new funds to make this industry viable.  It’s not just the race tracks; you’ve got a huge sector of your agricultural economy that depends on those race tracks.  Purses drive the breeding industry.  The breeding industry drives the hay growers and the blacksmiths and thousands of jobs that you all don’t think about.  So I think we’re going to throw it back in your lap and ask you guys for help.

Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Senator Yee and I will be glad to follow the Racing Board, who are the Governor’s appointees, into his office, so let’s start there, too.  


All right.


BARRY BROAD:  Mr. Chairman and members, I will be brief.  Barry Broad on behalf of the Jockeys Guild.  I also represent the unions that represent other employees at the tracks.  
On the issue of synthetic surfaces, I think it’s the Jockeys’ view thus far, that in terms of the major acute risk to jockeys and, of course, the horses they ride on, but the Jockeys Guild is a little bit more homosapien centric than the rest of the industry.  It is clearly, in the view of our folks, a major benefit.  But in terms of chronic health hazards, I want to just express a caution, and it is a caution, and that is, we’ve raised the issue of whether while we’re solving this acute problem, when you’re talking about synthetic surfaces, whether there has been sufficient studies done about human respiratory risks, about whether breathing this material over a long period of time will….you know, we don’t want to wakeup, I guess, in thirty years and find out that we have the race track equivalent of black lung disease for trainers or jockeys or other people, even though we’ve solved this other problem.  And there are various types of synthetic surfaces and various components of these surfaces and we don’t know which is best.  And so, we’re hoping that while the Horse Racing Board has traditionally focused on the health of the horse, with the health of the jockey being, sort of, a follow on to the health of the horse.  If you do something that’s better for the horse, it will be better for the jockey and that’s true, here, and it’s a major issue.  I don’t want to deemphasize how important that is, because horses breaking down is the number one cause of jockey injuries.  But I hope that they will do what is necessary with peer review type of studies that look at human health issues.  There are not only jockeys there, there are other race track employees and people that are fans.  There’s everybody that’s around there and this stuff is going up in the air.  And synthetic materials mean sand, obviously.  It has silicone in it and you can get silicoses.  It’s probably the particles are too big, but we don’t know what happens when you pulverize artificial products like this—plastics and rubber and so on, that themselves have a toxicity for human beings if they get into your lungs and they get into a small enough size.  So that’s just an issue that we hope that the Horse Racing Board will look at and will be cognizant of and not let just, sort of, float away.  Because we’ve been supportive of this publicly, but there is that caution and we hope that it will be dealt with.

In terms of the race date issue, we don’t have an opinion on that.  It’s just symptomatic of this sort of dysfunctional family nature of the horse racing industry.  These guys fight all the time, fulltime with each other.  I’ve never seen an industry (I’m around a lot of them) where there are so many people with a common interest that are at each other’s throat so often.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You’ve got to go to a water board meeting one day.


MR. BROAD:  You’re probably right.  You’re probably right.  I do think the time has come and maybe outside of the discussion that’s happened here, so that nobody thinks that anyone’s going after anybody else.  
But the Jockeys Guild sponsored legislation to change the composition of the Horse Racing Board.  There are, in our opinion, too many conflicts of interest built into the current system which is dominated by owners.  I don’t want to go before the Horse Racing Board and whether they are admitting it or not, have the majority of people there if I’m asking for a mount fee increase, thinking, “How much is this going to cost me?”  That’s a problem.  
And I think the independence….the separation of the prosecutorial function and the judicial function of the Board could be enhanced.  We think, for example, maybe the executive director should be appointed by the Governor and confirmed separately by the Senate so that they are the prosecutor and the Board acts as an appellate judge over cases.  
So, we think there are changes that can be made and they can be made positive without it being an ad hominem attack on anyone.  These are structural issues that have been around, as Mr. Halpern pointed out, for decades.  We don’t get why, if you drug a horse with the equivalent of heroine, somebody can raise the defense and get away with it that it’s naturally occurring in the hay.  And that’s what the defense is all the time.  It beats the heck out of me how they pull that off.  
Anyway, I appreciate the opportunity to comment.  I know you all want to go home.  And I’m done.  Thank you.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And number one, let me thank 
Mr. Mandella for rearranging his schedule.  I appreciate that. 

MR. MANDELLA:  Your asking me to had a big influence on that.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I appreciate that very much.  And we do appreciate the discussion.  As you know it’s on the record and we very much appreciate you doing that, as well.  Thank you.

Thank you, gentlemen.

Members, any…

SENATOR VINCENT:  Before you guys go, there’s a situation….and I live in Inglewood.  As a matter of fact, my house, I can see the finish line from where I live.  But here’s the thing; I was the mayor of Inglewood for fourteen years.  A lot of money came into that race track.  Now, and I’m talking about both sides, Bay Meadows and Hollywood Park, the same people own it.  But here’s what they don’t probably know; if Hollywood Park closes, which Hollywood Park is on commercial ground, where I live across the street, which we changed, is residential.  You know, you’ve probably seen Carlton Square.  You’ve seen it when you come out of Gate-7.  Well, I live in Carlton Square.  That used to be commercial also.  We changed it to residential, but we didn’t go over the Pink Hide Drive which is there now.  So, what I’m saying; if in fact—in fact—Bay Meadows, the people that own Bay Meadows and Hollywood Park can make that, let’s say, they come out building houses there.  They’ve got to get their zoning changed.  It can be very hard to do that.  They can’t build houses there.  It’s not zoned for houses.  It’s commercial.  It’s zoned for horses, race horses.  Think about it.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Senator Yee.

SENATOR YEE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  In light of what some of the witnesses talked about, the issue of conflict, if I can have 
Mr. Shapiro come back up.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Absolutely.  Chairman Shapiro and 
Mr. Harris and any other board member.

SENATOR YEE:  Mr. Shapiro, and this is open to some of your other colleagues.  This is relating to, I think, the issue of conflict within the Board.  But, are you familiar with the Horse Racing Board’s contract with Mr. Darrel Vienna?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, Senator, I am.

SENATOR YEE:  And in that particular contract he was granted a payment of $348,000 for just over two years and my understanding is that that was a “no bid” contract?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Senator, I believe it was a contract which was a contract that covered a two and a half year period and I believe it had a maximum monthly amount based on his hours that he could bill and if it went the full term of the contract, I believe it had a maximum amount in it.
SENATOR YEE:  But there was “no bid”?

MR. SHAPIRO:  I don’t handle those aspects of it.  Our staff is here.  I think it was a “no bid” but it was….our staff could better deal with that part of it.

SENATOR YEE:  Yes, it was a “no bid” contract.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Ingrid, do you want to give us some…

MS. FERMIN:  What we did was, we felt that what we needed was somebody who had some very unique qualities and had both legal background and attorney, good horse background, a trainer, somebody who had worked in the DAs office, he had worked as a defense attorney, handled a lot of equine cases and also on top of that, is an excellent teacher, all of those things combined.  We looked at a lot of people.  We talked and asked some people whether they were interested or not and it ended up that we felt that we could not find anybody that had all of those qualities.  We went through legal services.  We also went through General Services and the director and we ended up with….the contract was for more than, I believe, two and a half years to start with, in that we didn’t want to go through all of this again.  
The agreement with Mr. Vienna was that he felt that he wanted to help us with the training for our investigators.  Our investigators are peace officers and they need to have continuing education—a certain number of units every two years.  There has never been any kind of a course that’s been offered to them that would familiarize them with the industry.  They certainly did have a lot of background in investigative work, but they did not have the horsemanship, which is so essential to carrying out investigations that involve medication issues and that type of thing.  So, those were one of the things that we wanted.  So, he designed curriculum for that training.  It was four days.  He’s also designed curriculum for the stewards, to improve the stewards.  He reviewed our rules and regulations from the point of view of someone who was a defense attorney who had dealt with a lot of these cases.  
And so, as many of you know, Mr. Vienna has resigned in that he felt that his work was done.  And he told us that at the very beginning.  He said, “I’m only going to work as long as I feel that I’m doing what is in the best interest of the Board,” and he has completed a lot of projects for us and a lot of training.  So, the rest of the contract is not in use.

SENATOR YEE:  Now, was this contract ever rejected by any agency that reviews your Board’s proposal?

MS. FERMIN:  We did have to go in and certainly discuss with them but there wasn’t….as such, I don’t believe there was a rejection.  Ms. Voss, who is here, would be able to speak to that possibly better than I.

SENATOR YEE:  Did you have to rewrite the proposal that would be able to pass muster so that you can, in fact, get that proposal out?

MS. FERMIN:  To be honest, I have found since I have been here that you have to rewrite just about everything that goes in front of any kind of committee with the State.  But, Ms. Voss can address it in that she was part of that.

WENDY VOSS:  Hi, I’m Wendy Voss, the Assistant Chief of Admin with the Horse Racing Board.  And our original process was to prepare the contract and go to the Office of Procurement to get a sole source approval.  We went through several reviews with that and ended up speaking directly with the director of General Services and he signed off his approval.  And then after that, we went to the Office of Legal Services, which is the final review for contracts for all state agencies, and we received the approval there.  So, we went through all the channels and we had many discussions, but we didn’t receive any refusals from the control agencies.  
SENATOR YEE:  And how many times has Mr. Vienna been sanctioned by your board for medication violations?

MS. FERMIN:  Well, I don’t have that in front of me.  I know that I’ve certainly read some different things that hit the media and when I reviewed it, I did not think that there was an accurate presentation of what his background is.

SENATOR YEE:  And with those sanctions, were there any additional warnings given to Mr. Vienna on this particular subject—the medication violations?

MS. FERMIN:  Well, it depends on what the medication violations are.  What we’re talking about actually are probably overages where there are warnings.  There was a period of time, many years, actually, where if a trainer had not had any type of overage for, say, Abute, which is an anti inflammatory, that they were given a warning.  There was nothing particular about, or special about, Mr. Vienna.  He was treated exactly like any of the other trainers.

SENATOR YEE:  And do you know how much fines Mr. Vienna has had to pay out because of fines that the Board has levied against him?

MS. FERMIN:  No, I don’t.  But I know that if you look at trainers that have trained for a number of years and have run a lot of horses, that most of them have had some type of overage violation or fine at some point.

SENATOR YEE:  And can you describe for the committee 

Mr. Shapiro’s relationship with Mr. Vienna?

MS. FERMIN:  No, I can’t.

SENATOR YEE:  Has Mr. Vienna ever trained horses for you?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes.  And I think I know where you’re going, so I let me try to address it up front for you.  I had never met Darrel Vienna until I was on the Horse Racing Board—did not know him; had no prior relationship with him.  I met him, I believe, when staff suggested that we consider bringing on Darrel Vienna as a consultant to help the Board.  It’s rather complicated but when we have to deal with all of the different types of cases that we deal with from medication violations and then investigations and hearings….,I think there was some prior testimony earlier today by somebody that it’s a very involved process and unfortunately, we used up many, many DAGs and those DAGs don’t seem to have the background and knowledge that they are able to work through prosecuting cases when they should be prosecuted.  So, the idea of bringing Darrel Vienna on was brought to me and others on the Board because we felt that it would bring a level of experience and we would be in a better position not to pursue cases that shouldn’t be pursued; that we would be able to conduct better and fairer hearings; and that we would be able to improve our officiating and our rules and so forth.
Mr. Vienna was retained and he was retained under the contract that you’re referring to.  

SENATOR YEE:  A “no bid” contract—sole source contract?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, the contract that’s been described here.

SENATOR YEE:  That the Board voted for.

MR. SHAPIRO:  I assume.  So then, it was in a conversation I had with him many months after that I was on the backside of Santa Anita walking around and it was right before Del Mar was going to start.  And I was just having a casual conversation with him and I said, “Are you looking forward to Del Mar?  I’m going to go down there with my wife and my 5-year-old and we’re going to rent a place and looking forward to it.”  And he said, “No, I’m going to go to Argentina first.”  And I said, “Really?”  I said, “Why are you going to Argentina?”  And he said, “Well, you can buy horses that are ready to race and you can pick them up at a pretty good price.”  I said, “Really?”  At the time I think I owned half of two horses.  And so, I said, “Really.  Well, if you find something that’s cheap enough, I wouldn’t mind owning half a horse.”  And so, Darrel went to Argentina and came back and he found a horse.  And I knew that we had an exemption that we are allowed to own race horses.  His contract was in place and I thought, “Well, gee, is that a conflict?”  I said, “No, as long as I’m not getting anything; I’m paying his daily rate; he’s not involved in….there’s nothing that I instruct him to do or where I would get any benefit from it,” I didn’t see where there would be any conflict.  So I ended up buying a horse named Comparision—half a horse, which unfortunately didn’t really get to race at Del Mar because the horse never made it.  And I think the horse raced for me three times of which he was the trainer for part of the period that I had the horse.  And my $10,000 investment ended up being a $20,000 loss.
SENATOR YEE:  And when was Mr. Vienna terminated, or he didn’t want to continue with the contract?

MS. FERMIN:  He resigned.  I believe the letter was dated May 15th.

SENATOR YEE:  And did anybody say to you, Mr. Shapiro, to the Board or the executive director that you should, in fact, terminate that contract, and if so, who told you to do that?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Well, I’d like to answer that because clearly….I think it was brought up through some of your comments where I thought that it was you that felt that it was inappropriate, or it was in the press that it didn’t look good.  And I know that Darrel had read that and he said, “You know, I think I’ve done the job I was set out to do.  I don’t want to cause any problem for the Board.  I don’t want to cause any problem for anybody.  And if the appearance doesn’t look good, and I finished my job, we might as well sever ways,” and I agreed with him.

SENATOR YEE:  Let me ask another matter relative to the conflicts and so on.  You had the equine medical director, Dr. Arthur, here; what exactly are his duties and responsibilities?

MS. FERMIN:  Perhaps Dr. Arthur would like to respond?

SENATOR YEE:  Or you, as the executive director.  Did he work for you?
MS. FERMIN:  Yes, but it is kind of complicated in that he also has an obligation, it’s a joint interagency agreement with UC Davis.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Dr. Arthur, why don’t you come on up.  Since we’re talking about you, you might as well be sitting at the table.

DR. ARTHUR:  I’m very happy to answer that.  As I had mentioned when I sat up here earlier, I actually work for the School of Veterinary Medicine and I’m assigned to the Horse Racing Board.  I look after medication, drug testing, horse welfare and safety issues for the Board.  I have spent a considerable amount of time in helping prosecute and deal with drug positives, particularly the class-1, -2 or -3s.  Last week I was in court for five days in a row with an Office Administrative Law hearing, helping the DAG and giving him advice on how to handle the cases.  I deal with medication cases all the time.  And I follow the necropsy program, injuries, vets lists, deal with the medication committees.  Anything to do with drug testing, medication, horse health and safety issues are in my purview.

SENATOR YEE:  And this may be a little personal, I apologize, but you are a public employee, what’s your total compensation?
DR. ARTHUR:  Two hundred thousand dollars a year.  

SENATOR YEE:  Two hundred thousand; is that correct?

MR. HARRIS:  Keep in mind, he’s employed by the University of California at Davis’ vet school.

DR. ARTHUR:  I don’t know if they….well, you probably would know, but I’m paid $200,000 a year.  The contract between the university and the Horse Racing Board has other issues involved.  Obviously, there’s benefits involved and travel and office expenses, as well.  And I don’t know the details of that, all I know is my salary.

SENATOR YEE:  Let me offer this information:  I think it’s $147- out of the Board; is that correct?

MS. FERMIN:  That’s correct.

SENATOR YEE:  And then you get an additional $171,426 through UC Davis?

DR. ARTHUR:  No, it’s not.  I work entirely for the University of California.  I get a salary from the University of California.

SENATOR YEE:  Then what about $147-?

DR. ARTHUR:  I know nothing about $147,000.

MS. FERMIN:  The $147- would go to Davis and Davis handles all of his; that just goes in with whatever the salary and benefits are from Davis.  Our portion is limited to the $147- no matter what.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  You know, Senator Yee, everybody who works for the racing industry is very excited about this board and Chairman Shapiro, and I don’t understand why you’re beating them up.

SENATOR YEE:  Well, I’m trying to….I think we’ve been talking about where there might be some reforms that, hopefully, through some of the questions and answers, we can better understand how we might help this board with some of those reforms.  I think that Mr. Shapiro, in discussions with me privately, has indicated that we can always make some improvements.  Mr. Harris also has indicated we can make some improvements in the Board.  I think all of us want a better board.  The fact that there’s been some discussions about conflicts; I’ve not had an opportunity to ask some of these questions to ferret out exactly what are some of those conflicts.  Maybe some are real and some are imaginary and I think that, hopefully, through this forum, we may be able to get at some of that information.

MR. HARRIS:  I think it’s important to look at this position, though, that this position probably didn’t exist twenty-five years ago.  It’s a relatively somewhat new position which has advanced considerably once Dr. Arthur came on board, because he combines a lot of different talents that you couldn’t just go out and hire someone at a more normal type salary for this kind of a job because it requires expertise in so many different areas.

DR. ARTHUR:  Senator Yee, I took over a 60 percent pay cut to take this job from private practice.  I do this because I love this industry and think I can make a difference.

SENATOR YEE:  It’s my understanding, if you can help me understand, or if I’m wrong, that $147- is given to you via, I guess the State or UC Davis.

DR. ARTHUR:  I can’t answer that question.  I only am paid by the University of California.  What exactly the contract is between the University of California and the Horse Racing Board is going to have to be answered by somebody else.  I know nothing about $147,000.

MS. VOSS:  Let me see if I can clarify it for you.  The way I understand it from UC Davis; they have three other funding sources for this position and we are the fourth.  And I believe they consider the others “gift in kind” to the University.

SENATOR YEE:  And what other sources are those?

MS. VOSS:  I’m not sure I know them because they’re between UC Davis and those locations—I’m not sure.  But CHRB has a contract, an interagency agreement with UC Davis, to get an advisor to provide equine medical director services and what we pay to Davis is $147,000.  And then I believe there are three other sources that make up the program in order for them to procure an equine medical director.

SENATOR YEE:  And is it true that the other sources are from racing associations?  Do we know anything about that?

MS. FERMIN:  I believe that the Gregson Foundation is a part of it for research.  And, yes, there are racing associations that have also contributed, and I cannot tell you portions or numbers.

DR. ARTHUR:  I don’t think Gregson is involved.  Dolly Greene has provided a research fund with the university, which are very typical, specific…

SENATOR YEE:  Does it pay your salary?

DR. ARTHUR:  No, it has nothing to do with my salary.  It has to do with the research budget.

SENATOR YEE:  This is what I understand (and maybe we can look at it further), my understanding is that $147,000 comes out of the State to UC, then.  I didn’t know that, I thought it went directly to you.  Some additional dollars comes from racing associations towards your salary.  I don’t know if you know that or not…

MR. HARRIS:  There is money coming from racing associations.  I don’t know the breakdown, I’m sure we can get.  But as I understand it, they felt the disposition was so important it couldn’t be funded just strictly by the University of California, Davis and the Racing Board, so they wanted to put additional money into it.  Now maybe your inference would be that that somehow influenced something, but I think there are no strings attached to it at all; it’s just good for the industry, such as a lot of different organizations put money into the university.

SENATOR YEE:  I don’t know, maybe you could check my figures, but it’s my understanding that Oak Tree Racing contributes $100,000 to your salary; the Los Alamitos Racing Association contributes $23,000, so you have a combined total of about $300,000.  And my concern is that you are the individual, as in your testimony, making decisions about drug violations, about horses and other individuals associated with that, and your salary is coming out of some of those racing associations that make…

DR. ARTHUR:  Senator….

SENATOR YEE:  Let me just finish…that some of the decisions that you’re making about these horses are related to some of the individuals, part of the association and who’s paying for some of your salary.
DR. ARTHUR:  With all due respect, there’s never been a racing association that’s had a drug positive; it’s the horses that have a drug positive and their owner.  They’re owned by owners and the complaint is against the trainer and the owner.

SENATOR YEE:  And it’s those individuals….that’s the point that I am making, and I wonder whether or not one may see that this is, in fact, a conflict of interest.  That you need to somewhat be careful in terms of some of your analysis because of who’s paying your salary.

DR. ARTHUR:  Who pays my salary doesn’t have anything to do with my professional decision on a case—never has; it never will.  Is that clear?

MR. SHAPIRO:  If I can add something that might help enlighten this; okay?  First of all, Dr. Arthur is not the one that would ever be in the position determining whether there is a positive or not.  The way it works is, the horses are tested and it goes to the Maddy Laboratory and they are put through the best testing—it’s instrument testing if I’m correct, Dr. Arthur—and so it is the laboratory that will determine whether there is a positive.  Once that comes back there then, and you may have to correct me if I’m wrong in understanding the process…

DR. ARTHUR:  I’ll already correct you.  You’re already wrong.  The fact of the matter is, is that the law requires that both myself, as equine medical director, and the executive director have to approve any drug finding that will result in a positive.  So, my signature is required, as is the executive director.

MR. SHAPIRO:  But that is after a laboratory has, in fact, gone through extensive testing to come up….unrelated to you.

DR. ARTHUR:  The laboratory gives the laboratory data and it is my responsibility and the executive director, to evaluate that data and issue a finding.  All laboratory data heretofore that has come through, have all been approved.  It would be a very unusual circumstance that it wouldn’t be.
SENATOR YEE:  I understand and I’m sure that you do your level best to be objective and so on.  The only analogy that I would use is when I was a psychologist, I couldn’t go to court and just present my data as, sort of, a be all the and end all of whatever psychological functioning of any individual.  There’s always a tendency to worry about whether or not the parent or the agency that hires me may somehow tweak my data in a certain way, and that’s one of the reasons why they get the opposing side….they hire their own psychological expert to get information.  So I do understand.

DR. ARTHUR:  I think there’s some basic misunderstandings of the way drug testing works.  It’s a little bit more objective than a psychological evaluation, with all due respect.  And it is a little bit more black and white than that.  And sometime I would be happy to visit with you and explain the process in a lot more detail, but it works quite a bit more differently than what you’re talking about.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  I hope this grilling will end soon.

MR. SHAPIRO:  And Senator Yee, I think we would be more than happy to explain to you, or meet with you at another time to walk you through the process of what we do go through so that nobody’s personal bias or any conflict could, in fact, enter the system.  I’ll be more than happy to do that with you.

SENATOR YEE:  Thank you.  And, Mr. Shapiro, you’re a thoroughbred horse owner, you’re a member of the Thoroughbred Owners of California…

MR. SHAPIRO:  Every thoroughbred owner is a member of…

SENATOR YEE:  And then, are there other members on that board who’s part of TOC?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Everybody who owns a thoroughbred in California at a race track, I think, is automatically considered—if you own a race horse, you’re a member.  It’s the representative body for the owners.

DR. HARRIS:  The Legislature actually demands that.  That’s actually legislation that this Legislature has approved.
MR. SHAPIRO:  Right.

SENATOR YEE:  And within the B&P Code, it talks about the fact that the Board is responsible for the annual review of the TOC political budget; are you aware of that?

MR. HARRIS:  I don’t think TOC can make political contributions.

SENATOR YEE:  That’s right.  And what that section of the code says that “no portion of the amount distributed from the purse shall be used for the purpose for making a political contribution to candidate for office, but the organization representing the owners and trainers and horsemen may spend no more than the amount reasonably necessary to represent its members before the Legislature and the Board.  But the Board shall annually review the budget of the organizations representing the owners, trainers, horsemen and shall determine the appropriate amount to be expended for providing representation authorized within this provision of the B&P Code”; are you aware of that?
MR. SHAPIRO:  Generally, no.  I mean, that’s something that staff would do.  I don’t…

MS. FERMIN:  I’m a little confused on where this all went and started.  You lost me part of the way through this.

SENATOR YEE:  Well, basically that the Board approves the lobbying budget, or at least should…

MR. HARRIS:  I don’t think we approve the budget; we might approve their financial statement or something.

SENATOR YEE:  You approve the lobbying activities or budget of the TOC.

MR. SHAPIRO:  I don’t believe we do, sir.  

MR. HARRIS:  Is somebody from TOC here?

MR. BACHMAN:  Tom Bachman, Vice-Chair of TOC.  There is no money in our budget for lobbying.  We are by law not allowed to use any money that comes through the purse structure to TOC for our budget for lobbying.  Any lobbying money that we have has been raised privately from amongst members of the TOC organization.

SENATOR YEE:  Okay.  All right.  It’s my understanding (maybe we could go through this later on) that the Board is, in fact, responsible for reviewing the TOC budget relative to lobbying efforts.  

And let me ask you this then…

MR. BACHMAN:  Excuse me, Senator, we hire political consultants to work for us.  We do not make any political contributions with any money that comes from the purse structure through our budget.

MR. HARRIS:  Yeah, I think it’s confusing between a lobbyist and an advocate.  But you are hiring advocates who aren’t necessarily directing money, or don’t even have any money for them to direct.

SENATOR YEE:  With regard to the resolution that I had, SR-14…

MR. SHAPIRO:  I’m familiar with it.

SENATOR YEE:  I think I’m familiar with that too, Richard.  With regard to that particular resolution, I gather that there was just a lot of excitement about that particular resolution, however you want to define that excitement….but with regard to that particular issue, did the Board or the individuals within the Board, talk about how we might be able to turn that issue around and maybe try to convince individuals to get on a band wagon to try to turn that around that particular resolution?

MR. HARRIS:  I think it’s been turned around pretty well today from the testimony I’ve heard.  
MR. SHAPIRO:  Senator, it was your resolution.  I didn’t like it, obviously.  And the Board never discussed it.  The California Horse Racing Board never discussed it, to my knowledge, whatsoever in any conversation about it.  
SENATOR YEE:  Let me ask you one last question and I will finish.  You know, there was an issue, I think, with Mr. Ammerman; he had a horse by the name of Star Maniac and was tested positive for the presence of morphine after winning a race at Hollywood Park; are you aware of that?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, I am aware of it, sir.

SENATOR YEE:  And you understand, I think, the circumstance relative to the issue of the purse and so on?
MR. SHAPIRO:  Yes, I do understand it, but I’m hoping that you understand the whole issue correctly.  May I?
SENATOR YEE:  Yes.

MR. SHAPIRO:  And I would ask that Dr. Arthur or Ingrid Fermin or anybody to chime in on this.  This is a situation that occurred over six years ago, and at that particular time I believe that three horses or more came down at the same time with these positives for morphine.  Those cases went through six years of, I won’t say litigation, but a process to try and resolve them.  
In Mr. Ammerman’s case, I believe that in the beginning of 2006, that case was finally resolved by a dismissal of the charges against the trainer, which in that case was Bobby Frankel.  And again, that case was tracking another case identical which said that once the first case was settled, which was the Baffert(?) Case, then the Frankel Case would be settled.  Once that case was settled, I believe that it was at that time that there was a request of Mr. Ammerman that he needed to repay the purse monies because California racing law requires that any positive of a class-1, -2 or -3 requires it.  Mr. Ammerman did not have a hearing.  He was entitled to a hearing.  Mr. Ammerman also had issues that the case, when it was dismissed, had a case number and the case that was brought against Mr. Ammerman for returning the purse money was the same case number.  Mr. Ammerman was entitled to have a hearing.  We afford all of our licensees due process and the ability to have a hearing.  Mr. Ammerman, prior to his having a hearing, and as he said, in an effort to lessen any acrimony in the industry and to create calm and to be a team player, he paid the money back without a hearing.  That time was not six years as was reported by some article in the….I think it was the L.A. Times….and, in fact, a correction was, in fact, also published.  So unless I misstated that, I believe that Mr. Ammerman, similar to any other licensee, has the right to have a hearing, contest the finding and face the results.  But prior to his doing that, he paid the money back, which I believe was somewhere around $24,000.
MR. HARRIS:  It wasn’t Ammerman’s fault, really, that the ruling didn’t come.  The focus was really on the trainers, and that’s really why it was delayed all this time, because there were a lot of appeals and things going on.  I think now we’re trying to change that protocol where if you have a -1, -2, or -3, you’ve got to give the purse back fairly promptly regardless of the outcome of what the issues were on mitigation.  The reason that the mitigation was, they felt it was in the feed.  The morphine was in the feed which I know it might sound weird, but you can show that that was….there was medical research to show that that was possible and that was the conclusion.
SENATOR YEE:  Aren’t your rules pretty clear that if you, in fact, find a drug that you do have to give up the purse?

MR. SHAPIRO:  Only certain classes of drugs, Senator, classes-1,
-2 or -3; okay?  And, again, until the case is resolved and a finding is made and a decision made, there was nothing for Mr. Ammerman to do.  It wasn’t until the finding and the decision was made with the trainer that triggered them to seek the purse money back.  And as Commissioner Harris just said, it’s probably something that we want to modify one way or another.  I mean, just to give you an example, here is a trainer who lives with the horse every day.  He’s in charge of the horse.  He got off, and I’m not picking on any trainer here, without any penalty—nothing—no fine—nothing.  And the knock on the door is to the owner but you have to pay.  Now, he clearly didn’t admit….he’s not even around the horse.  But it’s the law.

MR. HARRIS:  Well, I think the idea is, though, the winner, if there was a medication test, even though there was perfect mitigation, there was all kinds of reasons; and it was not intended; nobody meant it to happen; but it happened so then you’ve got to give back the purse.  But our system wasn’t really what it needed to be and now we’re fixing it and you’re going to give back the purse, like, quick.  But this is, sort of, water under the bridge.

SENATOR YEE:  But isn’t your rule pretty clear in the sense that it says that the finding by stewards of an official test sample from a horse participating in any race containing a prohibitive drug substance shall require disqualification of the horse from the race in which it participated and forfeiture of the purse award, prize or record and that this regardless of the culpability of the condition of the horse.
MS. FERMIN:  That’s true, Senator Yee, however, I need to say that there were a number, a very high number, of unresolved cases.  And generally the procedure, as Commissioner Harris has indicated, that the case was generally resolved first with the trainer and then followed with the disqualification of the purse.  Because that one case had been following another, a lot of time had gone by.  We know the court systems can go very, very slowly. It was not until the summer of 2006 when 
Mr. Ammerman was, I guess, reminded that the notice that he’d gotten years ago had finally worked its way through the entire process and that he now needed to have a hearing and give up the purse.  As Commissioner Shapiro said, this is not something that happened over a six-year period that was in any way negative for him.  We have resolved things.  We have changed things.  We have changed a lot of procedures in the last two, two and a half years.  And I certainly would hope that other licensees would not have to experience this.  It’s unfortunate.  It happened.  But I think it’s proper to look at it with a just perspective.

DR. ARTHUR:  Senator Yee, these were actually quite old cases.  There was an agreement that was entered into by the previous executive director that tied these two cases together.  Mr. Ammerman had a notice six years ago that this case was going to be adjudicated.  He didn’t hear for five more years and then he still has a right to a hearing to redistribute the purse.  And, frankly, he got bad legal advice from an attorney that told him he didn’t have to do that.  We were going to get that money because I agree with you, I think 1859.5 is very clear, but there are attorneys that disagree with that, because if you look at the law, there is some ambiguity there.  But, class-1, -2 or -3s, he was going to have to return, but it had not gone through the hearing process yet.  In fact, the hearing process was scheduled when he voluntarily gave up the purse without a hearing.  
And we have addressed, and I have spent a lot of time on these type of issues in the last nine months.  We have had cases that were backed up for years because of this very difficult Office Administrative Hearing process that we have to go through.  We’ve cleaned them up quite well.  We’ve identified problems.  We’ve instituted tracking mechanisms for these cases and we are looking at solutions to move these along a lot faster, one of which is to have an 1859.5 hearing to redistribute the purse well in advance of any disciplinary action directed towards the trainer, and hopefully these will correct these sorts of problems.  Mr. Ammerman was not the only owner to get surprised that they have to redistribute a purse on a case that has taken years to resolve.  It’s a very bad system we have because we have to go to the Office Administrative Hearing.  
SENATOR YEE:  I mean the point, and I’ll finish with this comment, the point that I’m making is that this is a member of your board and the rules are pretty clear.  And for a member of your board, and I don’t know if your colleagues try to work with you to help you understand, but the point is, that he is a member of the board, the rules are very, very clear and he basically decided that “I’m not going to follow it.”  And that’s basically it.  I mean, “return the purse,” that’s what it says.  If you can figure out how you can redistribute it, you get it back and you’ve got to return it because it says here, “regardless of culpability.”

MR. SHAPIRO:  Senator Yee, I appreciate that; okay?  But I can’t sit here in good conscious and agree that Mr. Ammerman didn’t do the right thing, the honorable thing, and, in fact, he went beyond the call of duty and returned the purse even though he personally did not feel he had to for legal reasons because he had nothing to do with it.  But he stepped up and returned the purse without a hearing.  And I can only tell you, if you meet John Ammerman, and I hope you do, you will see, he’s a man with tremendous integrity.  And this is a man that would only do the right thing and that’s why he stepped up and he paid it.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  Chairman Florez, we’re supposed to receive public comment.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is there any public comment?  Are these burning issues from a public comment point of view?  Are these comments that can be issued for the record?

JERRY JAMGOTCHIAN:  Chairman Florez and members of the committee, my name is Jerry Jamgotchian.  Initially, I’d like to say to Senator Wiggins that I’m a race horse owner of 158 thoroughbred race horses and I am not excited about what’s going on in the California Horse Racing Board.  So, I’d like to go through my comments as quick as I could.  And I’ve provided you with a document, including all of my comments today along with support information of what I’m going to talk about today.
Basically, as I said, I own 158 thoroughbred race horses and like most of the people in California and the people in this room, have a strong and keen interest to see horse racing flourish.  From my perspective, California horse racing is clearly on a downward spiral under the current leadership and this afternoon I wish to speak about why I believe radical changes need to be made.

Chairman, you asked why, why, why earlier.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  The clock is ticking.

MR. JAMGOTCHIAN:  And I have the answers to why, why, why.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The clock is ticking.

MR. JAMGOTCHIAN:  Yes.  If you wish to hear them, I’ll provide them to you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We have it in writing, correct?

MR. JAMGOTCHIAN:  Yes, you do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So let’s summarize.

MR. JAMGOTCHIAN:  Okay.  I’ll summarize by saying, there’s serious issues here.  And the issues that you need to look at are; conflicts of interest by the board members, secondly, the issue of leadership in the CHRB.  There’s not effective, experienced or capable leadership currently in horse racing.  I’ve listed bullet points of approximately fifteen examples of things that are atrocious.  Allowing a felon to work in the CHRB for five years is one issue; sanctions for violating the Public Records Act, of which another lawsuit has just been filed; allowing the executive director to work out of a residence in San Diego rather than maintain an office in Sacramento.  You can read them, essentially.  But there is absolutely no plan being put in play by the executive director and the Board on the future of horse racing.  I used to import 30 horses a year from England to California, I’ve stopped the importation.  I’ve moved the importation to other areas of the country, just like other trainers have.  A lot of people have come up here and said a lot of things, some of which are blatantly false.  

I’ve provided you the documents.  You can have staff look at the documents.  
But I’d like to say one thing and it’s very positive by this committee, and I’d like to thank you, especially, for asking the why questions and more importantly, I’d like to thank Senator Yee for his direction with regards to putting the spotlight of the Legislature on the CHRB.  Because this agency, just like Mr. Shapiro stated publicly, he doesn’t want to hear from legislators.  It’s his personal vendetta that got him to the position that he’s in.  His personal vendetta against the Bay Meadows Land Company, Mr. Liebau, got him to this position.  And he doesn’t want to hear from you.  He doesn’t care to hear from you.  And more importantly, he hopes he never hears from you again.  The only problem is, he’s costing me a lot of people in the industry, a lot of people that depend on this.  And as Mr. Mandella said, going from a billionaire to a millionaire, I can relate to that because I lose a lot of money on a yearly basis in California horse racing, but I’ve stopped the loss because I have not raced here.

Finally, horse racing can be successful in California, like it is in other parts of the United States.  But it’s not going to be successful unless this committee immediately radically changes the people that were up here and the directions and the focus that they don’t have on the future of horse racing.  It is not to the benefit of horse racing to have the Indians, the tribal money, to come into horse racing because the money will be wasted and we’ll be in the same condition.  I believe that years ago they were given license relief.  Whatever happened to that money?  We have a $10 million budget here that Ms. Fermin, obviously, you know the budget is upside down.  We have testing that’s not paid for.  We have tests that allegedly have been done that aren’t even being monitored or even being checked.  And here we have Rick Arthur coming up and I highlighted a page.  Rick Arthur is getting $318,426 and you can look at a request that I received in response to the Public Records request dated June 5, 2007, written by Ms. Voss, who sat right here, and said she didn’t even know how much he was getting paid.  So, a copy of that letter is right in your packet.  
So, I’ve got to tell you, if you actually want to do something about horse racing, you have to make structural changes to this board, structural changes to the executive director.  If not, horse racing will continue its downward spiral.

Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  

MICHAEL POWER:  Good evening.  My name is Michael Power.  I’m a nobody.  I’m a small breeder, third generation, in California.  I currently own 40 or 50 horses.  I know the hour is late.  I’ll try to make power points for you.  

First of all, Senator Florez, you asked four or five questions in the beginning of the day:  Why has the budget been held up?  Why are there resignations being asked for?  Why are the prints coming?  And why are the long-term plans being questioned?  I suggest to you, in sincere thought, that the answer for those questions is sitting to your left.  If we didn’t have the political….I’m speaking of the political hyperbole of Senator Yee.  I do want to agree with Senator Yee, however, about the conflict of interest on the CHRB and I think that might go to your next point, which was to recommend an action plan.  

I strongly believe there is a current conflict of interest on the CHRB which should be remediated by the Legislature.  And that in regards to board members who have too many interests in the running of the race tracks and of ownership of the horses, Mr. Shapiro’s half interest in a loser horse, to me, is not a conflict of interest.  However, when you have a member of the Board, several members of the Board, who own dozens if not hundreds of horses, who employ at least a dozen different trainers, some of whom have testified here today, and whose trainers have been accused of, and proven of, violations far greater than what 
Mr. Ammerman has, then I think you have an absolute conflict of interest which must be remediated immediately.  Board members who are conflicted like that don’t belong on a regulating board.  They simply have too many irons in the fire, in my opinion.

I also wish to address, very shortly, part of the Bay Meadows request.  It seems to be a fete compli that the Bay Meadows Land Company will be developing that property in the very near future.  However, I’ve been in discussions with the San Mateo City Planning Department about their application and I found out some very interesting things.
Number one, other than the cost of the EIR, which was several hundred thousand dollars, BMLC has only put in about $50,000 in impact fees to the city arts department.  Their only out-of-pocket cost, if they don’t build the development by 2011, they have to pay a 
$4.6 million fee for transport mitigation.  So their costs of not building until 2011 are only the $50,000 plus the EIR that they’ve already put into it.  My contention is that Mr. Liebau and Bay Meadows Land Company are stringing the CHRB along, perhaps stringing you along.  My belief is, they plan to race there for several, two, three, four more years.  They can do so until 2011 without any negative impact.  Their permits stay in line.  They just have to remove them every six months.  And the essence of this, what I’m getting at, is that if you give them a one-year waiver, they’ll come back in year two for another waiver, year three for another waiver, year four for another waiver.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that would mean they were racing then?

MR. POWER:  That would mean they were racing then.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that would not be a bad thing; correct?

MR. POWER:  That would not be a bad thing except for the animals who are killed at that point.  In the last 40-day meet at Bay Meadows, 26 horses died—25 during the regular meet, one subsequent to the meet from injuries he sustained during a race at Bay Meadows.  That was 26 horses.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  Did you say in 46 days?

MR. POWER:  In roughly a 40-day meet—26 horses.  Now, using Dr. Arthur’s computation of $25,000 per animal, that’s roughly 
$2.25 million, multiply that over the next one year, two years, five years and you’ll see why we’re talking $5- to $10 million of potential animal deaths which will affect the owners, who, by the way, we have half the number of owners today than we had 20 years ago, we have half the number of brood mares in production in California than 20 years ago.  The industry is dying.  You must do something to build it up again.  The State of California earns $400 million a year in direct payments from the race tracks.  It employs between 40- and 50,000 people every year.  It is an industry which needs your help and we don’t get that by killing the horses, by turning out the owners and the breeders who supply the means of production.
Thank you very much.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And you’re just an average guy off the street with all those stats.  Wonderful.  Okay.  All right, let’s go ahead and close the hearing.  Senator Vincent, do you have any closing remarks?  Senator Wiggins, do you have any closing remarks?  Senator Yee, any closing?  And then I want to say something and then we’re going adjourn the hearing after four and a quarter hours.

SENATOR WIGGINS:  Thank you, Senator Florez for holding this hearing.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Senator Vincent?

SENATOR VINCENT:  No, I have nothing.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Yee.

SENATOR YEE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  And I too, want to thank you for having this hearing.  What I’ve learned from this hearing is that the horse racing industry is in serious trouble not only in terms of its economics, but the fact that there are so many territorial fights.  
And I will take some of the recommendations that were made that it is probably beyond the different players to resolve this.  And I think we, in the Legislature, and legislators, need to work with everybody to try to resolve some of the conflicts and find ways to bring a lot more life and health to the horse racing industry.  
Relative to, I think, some of the presentations of the board members, the executive director and other individuals, it does sadden me that the members, to a large extent, just don’t understand this issue of conflict.  I think that one of the things that is extremely important in government is that you have a very clear sense of when, in fact, your actions and your interests may, in fact, not be the purest even though unintentional, that it is extremely important that we’re above board and that decisions are made with the clearest of heart and understanding.  

The things that I’ve heard in this particular hearing does, in fact, trouble me.  I don’t know if it’s just part of the education of board members or it is just a different culture that some of the board members come from, I know that sometimes it is hard to be constrained when you’re in government, but that’s the reality.  Those are the rules that we, kind of, operate by.  For an individual to not know the source of their income and where it comes from, it’s just not an excuse for individuals to not understand why a “no bid” contract is not something that you do.  It is something that I have a hard time understanding.  It is those difficulties and those misunderstandings or maybe lack of understanding that creates these kinds of conflict of interest.  And to some extent, I even understand why the board members and other individuals vociferously say that it is not a conflict because they don’t even understand that there is a conflict.  

And so, I hope that there is going to be further discussions about this.  It is an extremely important industry, important part of our culture and we’ve got to do whatever we can to not only save it, but to make it something that we can all be proud of.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  Let me just, number one; thank everyone for coming and spending the hours that we had here.  Obviously, I’ve asked a lot of questions why at the beginning of the hearing.  I feel pretty good that at least I understand the motivations behind why.  
And I can tell you, I want to thank Senator Yee, particularly.

And I do want to thank Senator Perata for allowing us to have a much needed hearing and a much needed airing of issues, conflicts, and quite frankly, lots of pent up frustrations.  That’s part of the hearing process.  That’s why this committee was created.

I will say for the record, that I think we ought to keep our eye on everything that’s under the committee’s purview.  I don’t necessarily think that, in many cases, we ought to divert into the direct running of all of our boards, although sometimes I’d like to do that.  I think the goal of it is just to make sure that, as Senator Yee said, that we keep our eye on the ball; that we watch the policies; and that we keep the dialog open.

I would like to thank Chairman Shapiro and Vice-Chair Harris and all the trainers and track owners and everyone who took the time to be here today.  We have a lengthy transcript available for anyone, after this hearing, that wants to peruse it and make sure that we….that will be available very soon.  
And I do want to thank Senator Wiggins for allowing us to continue on well past seven.  And I do know it was a lengthy hearing.

Thank you, everyone, for coming.  We’ve spoken to each other.  We’ve not passed each other.  And this has been a good hearing, so I appreciate it.  We’ll adjourn.
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